6_’0\08 [e C lty City Recorder’s Office

Est. 1853

PUBLIC NOTICE

Notice is Hereby Given that Municipal Building Authority (MBA) of Tooele City will meet in a Business Meeting
on Wednesday, November 1, 2023, immediately following the Tooele City Council Business Meeting. The
Meeting will be Held in the Tooele City Hall Council Chambers, Located at 90 North Main Street, Tooele, Utah.
The Complete public notice is posted on the Utah Public Notice Website www.utah.gov, the Tooele City Website
www.tooelecity.org, and at Tooele City Hall. To request a copy of the public notice or for additional inquiries
please contact Michelle Pitt, City Recorder at (435)843-2111 or michellep@tooelecity.org

We encourage you to join the MBA meeting electronically by visiting the Tooele City YouTube Channel, at
https://tinyurl.com/ykjpjx4z or by going to YouTube.com and searching “Tooele City Channel”.

AGENDA
1. Open MBA Meeting
2. Roll Call

3. Resolution 2023-03 A Resolution Authorizing the Issuance and Sale By the Municipal Building
Authority of Tooele City, Utah (the “Authority”) of Not More Than $8,500,000 Aggregate Principal
Amount of Its Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (the “Bonds”); Delegating to Certain Officers of
the Authority the Ability to Approve the Final Terms and Provisions of the Bonds Within the
Parameters Set Forth Herein; Fixing the Maximum Aggregate Principal Amount of the Bonds, the
Maximum Number of Years Over Which the Bonds May Mature, the Maximum Interest Rate
Which the Bonds May Bear, and the Maximum Discount From Par at Which the Bonds May Be
Sold; Calling a Public Hearing; Providing for the Posting of a Notice of Public Hearing and Bonds
to Be Issued; Providing for the Running of a Contest Period; Authorizing and Approving the
Execution By the Authority of a Master Resolution, Master Lease Agreement, Ground Lease
Agreement, Security Documents, and Other Documents Necessary for the Issuance of the Bonds;
Authorizing the Taking of All Other Actions Necessary to the Consummation of the Transactions
Contemplated By This Resolution, and Related Matters

Presented by Shannon Wimmer, Finance Director

4. Minutes
October 18, 2023

5. Adjourn

Michelle Y. Pitt, MBA Secretary

Pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act, Individuals Needing Special Accommodations Should Notify
Michelle Y. Pitt, Tooele City Recorder, at 435-843-2111 or michellep@tooelecity.org, Prior to the Meeting.

90 North Main Street | Tooele, Utah 84074
435-843-2113 | 435-843-2119 (fax) | www.tooelecity.org


http://www.tooelecity.org/
http://www.utah.gov/
http://www.tooelecity.org/
https://tinyurl.com/ykjpjx4z
mailto:michellep@tooelecity.org

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING

TO THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE MUNICIPAL
BUILDING AUTHORITY OF TOOELE CITY, UTAH:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a special meeting of the Board of Trustees of
the Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah (the “Authority”), will be held at
Tooele City Hall, 90 North Main Street, Tooele, Utah at 7:00 p.m. on November 1, 2023,
for the purpose of authorizing the issuance and sale of the Authority’s Lease Revenue
Bonds, Series 2023, in a total principal amount of not more than $8,500,000, and related
matters, and for the transaction of such other business incidental to the foregoing as may
come before said meeting.

Secretary

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF NOTICE
AND CONSENT TO SPECIAL MEETING

We, the Chair and Trustees of the Board of Trustees of the Authority, do hereby
acknowledge receipt of the foregoing Notice of Special Meeting, and we hereby waive any
and all irregularities, if any, in such notice and in the manner of service thereof upon us
and consent and agree to the holding of such special meeting at the time and place specified
in said notice, and to the transaction of any and all business which may come before said
meeting.

Chair

Vice-Chair

Trustee

Trustee

Trustee

4866-4074-2792, v. 3




Tooele City, Utah

November 1, 2023

The Board of Trustees (the “Governing Board”) of the Municipal Building
Authority of Tooele City, Utah (the “Authority”), met in special session on November 1,
2023, at the Tooele City Hall, 90 North Main Street, Tooele, Utah at 7:00 p.m. with the
following members of the Governing Board present:

Justin Brady Chair

Ed Hansen Vice- Chair
Tony Graf Trustee
Maresa Manzione Trustee
Dave McCall Trustee

Also present:

Michelle Pitt Secretary
Shannon Wimmer City Finance Director
Debbie Winn Mayor

Absent:

After the meeting had been duly called to order and after other matters not pertinent
to this Resolution had been discussed, the Secretary presented to the Governing Board a
Certificate of Compliance with Open Meeting Law with respect to this November 1, 2023
meeting, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

The following resolution was then introduced in writing, was fully discussed, and
pursuant to a motion duly made by and seconded by , adopted
by the following vote:

AYE:

NAY:
The resolution was then signed by the Chair and recorded by the Secretary in the

official records of the Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah. The resolution
is as follows:

4866-4074-2792, v. 3



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-03

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE BY
THE MUNICIPAL BUILDING AUTHORITY OF TOOELE CITY,
UTAH (THE “AUTHORITY”) OF NOT MORE THAN $8,500,000
AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF ITS LEASE REVENUE
BONDS, SERIES 2023 (THE “BONDS”); DELEGATING TO CERTAIN
OFFICERS OF THE AUTHORITY THE ABILITY TO APPROVE THE
FINAL TERMS AND PROVISIONS OF THE BONDS WITHIN THE
PARAMETERS SET FORTH HEREIN; FIXING THE MAXIMUM
AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF THE BONDS, THE
MAXIMUM NUMBER OF YEARS OVER WHICH THE BONDS MAY
MATURE, THE MAXIMUM INTEREST RATE WHICH THE BONDS
MAY BEAR, AND THE MAXIMUM DISCOUNT FROM PAR AT
WHICH THE BONDS MAY BE SOLD; CALLING A PUBLIC
HEARING; PROVIDING FOR THE POSTING OF A NOTICE OF
PUBLIC HEARING AND BONDS TO BE ISSUED; PROVIDING FOR
THE RUNNING OF A CONTEST PERIOD; AUTHORIZING AND
APPROVING THE EXECUTION BY THE AUTHORITY OF A
MASTER RESOLUTION, MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT, GROUND
LEASE AGREEMENT, SECURITY DOCUMENTS, AND OTHER
DOCUMENTS NECESSARY FOR THE ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS;
AUTHORIZING THE TAKING OF ALL OTHER ACTIONS
NECESSARY TO THE CONSUMMATION OF THE TRANSACTIONS
CONTEMPLATED BY THIS RESOLUTION, AND RELATED
MATTERS.

WHEREAS, the City Council (the “Council”) of Tooele City, Utah (the “City”) has
previously authorized and directed the creation of the Municipal Building Authority of
Tooele City, Utah (the “Authority”); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the direction of the Council, the Authority has been duly
and regularly created, established, and is organized and existing as a nonprofit corporation
under and by virtue of the provisions of the Constitution and the laws of the State of Utah,
including, in particular, the provisions of the Local Building Authority Act, Title 17D,
Chapter 2, of the Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended (the “LBA Act”); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of the LBA Act and the Local Government
Bonding Act, Title 11, Chapter 14, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended (together, the
“Act”), the Board of Trustees of the Authority (the “Governing Board”) has authority to
issue its lease revenue bonds for the purpose of financing certain improvements for and on
behalf of the Authority; and

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to issue its Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023
(to be issued in one or more series and with any other series or title designation(s) as may
be determined by the Authority) (the “Series 2023 Bonds™), in the aggregate principal
amount of not to exceed $8,500,000 to (a) finance the construction of a fire station and all

4866-4074-2792, v. 3 2



related improvements (the “Series 2023 Project”) and (b) pay costs associated with the
issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds; and

WHEREAS, the City is the owner of fee simple title to the site on which the Series
2023 Project is to be located and the Authority desires to lease such property from the City
pursuant to the terms and provisions of a Ground Lease Agreement (the “Ground Lease™)
in substantially the form presented to this meeting and attached hereto as Exhibit D and
herein authorized and approved; and

WHEREAS, the Act provides for the posting of a Notice of Public Hearing and
Bonds to be Issued and the Authority desires to post such notice in compliance with the
Act with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Sections 11-14-316, 11-14-318 and 17D-2-502 of the Act,
the Notice of Public Hearing and Bonds to be Issued shall (a) constitute the notice of intent
to issue bonds, (b) constitute notice of a public hearing to receive input from the public
with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds and (c) provide for a 30-day period in which the
registered voters of the City may submit a written petition requesting an election to approve
or disapprove the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds; and

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to lease the Series 2023 Project, as lessor, on an
annually renewable basis, to the City, as lessee, pursuant to the terms and provisions of a
Master Lease Agreement (the “Master Lease”) by and between the Authority and the City
in substantially the form presented to this meeting and attached hereto as Exhibit C; and

WHEREAS, the Authority proposes to finance the Series 2023 Project and pay
costs of issuance by means of the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds to be issued pursuant
to a Master Resolution (the “Master Resolution”) in substantially the form presented to this
meeting and attached hereto as Exhibit B; and

WHEREAS, to further secure its payment obligations under the Master Resolution,
the Authority proposes to grant a lien on and security interest in the Series 2023 Project
pursuant to (i) a Leasehold Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents and Security Agreement,
(the “Deed of Trust”) and (ii) an Assignment of Ground Lease Agreement, in substantially
the forms presented to this meeting and attached hereto as Exhibit E (collectively, the
“Security Documents™); and

WHEREAS, it is anticipated that the Authority will sell the Series 2023 Bonds to
the State of Utah Permanent Community Impact Fund Board (the ‘“Purchaser”); and

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to improve and promote the general welfare of
the citizens of the City by entering into the documents and taking the actions described
above; and

WHEREAS, the City has or is expected to authorize, approve and direct the
execution of the Master Lease, Ground Lease and the Security Documents by the City and
to authorize the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, and the financing of the Series 2023
Project by the Authority and to further authorize the execution of the Master Lease, the

4866-4074-2792, v. 3 3



Master Resolution, the Ground Lease and the Security Documents and certain other acts to
be taken by the Authority in connection therewith; and

WHEREAS, in order to allow the Authority flexibility in setting the pricing date of
the Series 2023 Bonds, the Authority desires to grant to the City Finance Director (the
“Designated Officer”) the authority to approve the final interest rates, principal amounts,
terms, maturities, redemption features, and purchase price at which the Series 2023 Bonds
shall be sold and any changes with respect thereto from those terms which were before the
Authority at the time of adoption of this Resolution, provided such terms do not exceed the
parameters set forth for such terms in this Resolution (the “Parameters”);

NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby resolved by the Governing Board of the
Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah as follows:

Section 1. Terms defined in the foregoing recitals hereto shall have the same
meaning when used in this Resolution.

Section 2. The Governing Board hereby finds and determines that it is in the
best interests of the Authority and residents of the City for the Authority to issue not more
than $8,500,000 aggregate principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds (to be issued in one
or more series and with any other series or title designation(s) as may be determined by the
Authority), to bear interest at a rate or rates of not to exceed four percent (4.00%) per
annum, to mature in not more than thirty-two (32) years from their dated date, and to be
sold at a price not less than one-hundred percent (100%) of the total principal amount
thereof to (i) finance the Series 2023 Project and (ii) pay costs of issuance of the Series
2023 Bonds, all pursuant to this Resolution, the Master Resolution and the Master Lease,
all substantially in the forms attached hereto, as shall be approved by the Designated
Officer, all within the Parameters set forth herein. The issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds
shall be subject to the final approval of Bond Counsel and to the approval of the Attorney
for the Authority.

Section 3. The Master Resolution, in substantially the form presented to this
meeting and attached hereto as Exhibit B, is in all respects hereby authorized, approved,
and confirmed, and the Chair or Vice Chair and Secretary are hereby authorized and
directed to execute and deliver the same on behalf of the Authority.

Section 4. The Master Lease, Ground Lease and Security Documents, in
substantially the respective forms presented to this meeting and attached hereto as exhibits,
are in all respects approved, authorized and confirmed, and the Chair or Vice Chair and
Secretary are hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the same on behalf of
the Authority.

Section 5. The Designated Officer of the Authority is authorized to make any
alterations, changes or additions to the Master Resolution, Master Lease, Ground Lease,
Security Documents, the Series 2023 Bonds, or any other document herein authorized and
approved which may be necessary to conform the same to the final terms of the Series 2023
Bonds (within the Parameters set by this Resolution), to correct errors or omissions therein,

4866-4074-2792, v. 3 4



to complete the same, to remove ambiguities therefrom, or to conform the same to other
provisions of said instruments, to the provisions of this Resolution, or any resolution
adopted by the City or the Authority, the agreements with the Purchaser or the provisions
of the laws of the State of Utah or the United States.

Section 6. The form, terms, and provisions of the Series 2023 Bonds and the
provisions for the signatures, authentication, payment, registration, transfer, exchange,
redemption, and number shall be as set forth in the Master Resolution. The Chair or Vice
Chair and Secretary are hereby authorized and directed to execute and seal the Series 2023
Bonds and to deliver said Series 2023 Bonds to the Purchaser. The signatures of the Chair
or Vice Chair and the Secretary may be by facsimile or manual execution.

Section 7. Upon their issuance, the Series 2023 Bonds will constitute special
limited obligations of the Authority payable solely from and to the extent of the sources set
forth in the Series 2023 Bonds, the Master Resolution, the Ground Lease and the Security
Documents. No provision of this Resolution, the Master Resolution, the Master Lease, the
Ground Lease, the Security Documents, the Series 2023 Bonds, or any other instrument,
shall be construed as creating a general obligation of the Authority or the City or as creating
a general obligation of the State of Utah or any political subdivision thereof, or as incurring
or creating a charge upon the general credit of the Authority or the City or its taxing powers.

Section 8. The Designated Officer or other appropriate officials of the
Authority, and each of them, are hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver for
and on behalf of the Authority any or all additional certificates, documents (including, but
not limited to, post-issuance compliance policies and any escrow agreement permitted
under the Master Resolution) and other papers and to perform all other acts they may deem
necessary or appropriate in order to implement and carry out the matters authorized in this
Resolution and the documents authorized and approved herein.

Section 9. After the Series 2023 Bonds are delivered to the Purchaser, and upon
receipt of payment therefor, this Resolution shall be and remain irrepealable until the
principal of the Series 2023 Bonds is deemed to have been duly discharged in accordance
with the terms and provisions of the Master Resolution.

Section 10.  The Authority shall hold a public hearing on December 6, 2023 at
7:00 p.m. to receive input with respect to (a) the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds and (b)
the potential economic impact that the Series 2023 Project will have on the private sector,
which hearing date shall not be less than fourteen (14) days after notice of the public
hearing is posted as a Class A notice under Section 63G-30-102, Utah Code Annotated
1953, as amended, (i) on the Utah Public Notice Website created under Section 63A-16-
601, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, (ii) on the Authority’s official website, (iii)
in a public location in or near the affected area of the Authority that is reasonably likely to
be seen by the residents of the affected area of the Authority. The Secretary shall cause a
copy of this resolution (together with all exhibits hereto) to be kept on file in the Secretary’s
offices for public examination during regular business hours until at least thirty (30) days
from and after the initial posting thereof. The Authority directs its officers and staff to post
a “Notice of Public Hearing and Bonds to be Issued” in substantially the following form:

4866-4074-2792, v. 3 5



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND BONDS TO BE ISSUED

PUBLIC NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that pursuant to the Local Government
Bonding Act, Title 11, Chapter 14, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended and the Local
Building Authority Act, Title 17D, Chapter 2, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended
(collectively, the “Act”), on November 1, 2023 the Board of Trustees (the “Governing
Board”) of the Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah (the “Authority”)
adopted a resolution (the “Resolution”) declaring its intention to issue its Lease Revenue
Bonds, Series 2023 (to be issued in one or more series and with such other or further
designation(s) as the Authority may determine) (the “Bonds”).

TIME, PLACE AND LOCATION OF PUBLIC HEARING

The Authority shall hold a public hearing on December 6, 2023, at the hour of 7:00
p.m. The location of the public hearing is 90 North Main Street, Tooele, Utah. The purpose
of the meeting is to receive input from the public with respect to (i) the issuance of the
Bonds and (ii) any potential economic impact that the improvements, facility or property
financed in whole or in part with the proceeds of the Bonds may have on the private sector.
All members of the public are invited to attend and participate.

PURPOSE FOR ISSUING THE BONDS

The Bonds will be issued for the purpose of (a) financing the construction of a fire
station and all related improvements (the “Series 2023 Project”) and (b) paying issuance
expenses of the Bonds.

PARAMETERS OF THE BONDS

The Authority intends to issue the Bonds in the principal amount of not to exceed
Eight Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($8,500,000), to bear interest at a rate or
rates of not to exceed four percent (4.00%) per annum, to mature in not more than thirty-
two (32) years from their date or dates of issuance, and to be sold at a price not less than
one-hundred percent (100%) of the total principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to
the date of delivery.

The Bonds are to be issued and sold by the Authority pursuant to the Resolution,
including as part of said Resolution, forms of a Master Resolution (the “Master
Resolution”), a Master Lease Agreement (the “Master Lease”), a Ground Lease Agreement
(the “Ground Lease”) and certain Security Documents (the “Security Documents™), which
were before the Governing Board and attached to the Resolution at the time of the adoption
of the Resolution and said Master Resolution, Master Lease, Ground Lease and Security
Documents are to be executed by the Authority in such form and with such changes thereto
as shall be approved by the Authority; provided that the principal amount, interest rates,
maturity, and discount of the Bonds will not exceed the maximums set forth above.

Copies of the Resolution, Master Resolution, Master Lease, Ground Lease and
Security Documents are on file in the office of the City Recorder of Tooele City (the

4866-4074-2792, v. 3 6



“City”) located at 90 North Main Street, Tooele, Utah, where they may be examined during
regular business hours of the City Recorder from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Monday through
Friday, for a period of at least thirty (30) days from and after the date of posting of this
notice.

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS

The Bonds are to be issued under and secured by and entitled to the protection of
the Master Resolution, pursuant to which all base rentals payable by the City under the
Master Lease and, if paid by the City, the Purchase Option Price, are assigned to secure the
payment of principal of, interest on, and premium, if any on the Bonds. Additionally, a
security interest in the Series 2023 Project shall be granted to the holders of the Bonds
pursuant to the Master Lease, to further secure the Authority’s obligations under the Master
Resolution.

OUTSTANDING BONDS SECURED BY LEASE REVENUES

The Authority currently has no bonds outstanding secured by lease revenues.

OTHER OUTSTANDING BONDS OF THE AUTHORITY

Additional information regarding the Authority’s outstanding bonds may be found
in the City’s financial report (the “Financial Report”) at:
https://reporting.auditor.utah.gov/searchreport. For additional information, including any
information more recent than as of the date of the Financial Report, please contact Shannon
Wimmer, City Finance Director at (435) 843-2150.

TOTAL ESTIMATED COST

Based on the Authority’s current Series 2023 Project plan of finance and a current
estimate of interest rates, the total principal and interest cost of the Bonds if held until
maturity is $14,747,280.

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a period of thirty (30) days from and after the
date of the posting of this notice is provided by law during which (i) any person in interest
shall have the right to contest the legality of the Master Resolution, Master Lease, Ground
Lease or Security Documents, or any provision made for the security and payment of the
Bonds, and that after such time, no one shall have any cause of action to contest the
regularity, formality or legality thereof for any cause whatsoever; and (ii) registered voters
within the City may sign a written petition requesting an election to authorize the issuance
of the Bonds. If written petitions which have been signed by at least twenty percent (20%)
of the registered voters of the City are filed with the Authority during said thirty (30) day
period, the Authority shall be required to hold an election to obtain voter authorization
prior to the issuance of the Bonds. If fewer than twenty percent (20%) of the registered
voters of the City file a written petition during said thirty (30) day period, the Authority
may proceed to issue the Bonds without an election.

4866-4074-2792, v. 3 7



DATED this November 1, 2023.

/s/ Michelle Pitt

Secretary

4866-4074-2792, v. 3 8



Section 11.  The Authority hereby reserves the right to opt not to issue the Series
2023 Bonds for any reason.

Section 12.  The Authority hereby declares its intention and reasonable
expectation to use proceeds of tax-exempt bonds to reimburse itself for initial expenditures
for costs of the Series 2023 Project. The Series 2023 Bonds are to be issued, and the
reimbursements made, by the later of 18-months after the payment of the costs or after the
Series 2023 Project is placed in service, but in any event, no later than three years after the
date the original expenditure was paid. The maximum principal amount of the Series 2023
Bonds which will be issued to finance the reimbursed costs of the Series 2023 Project is
not expected to exceed $8,500,000.

Section 13.  All resolutions or parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent
of such conflict, hereby repealed and this Resolution shall be in full force and effect
immediately upon its approval and adoption.

4866-4074-2792, v. 3 9



APPROVED AND ADOPTED this November 1, 2023.

Chair

ATTEST AND COUNTERSIGN:

Secretary

4866-4074-2792, v. 3 10



(Other business not pertinent to the foregoing appears in the minutes of the
meeting.)

Upon the conclusion of all business on the agenda, the meeting was adjourned.

Chair

ATTEST AND COUNTERSIGN:

Secretary

4866-4074-2792, v. 3 11

o



STATE OF UTAH )
. SS.
COUNTY OF TOOELE )

I, Michelle Pitt, the duly appointed and qualified Secretary of the Municipal
Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah (the “Authority”), do hereby certify according to
the records of the Board of Trustees of the Authority in my official possession that the
foregoing constitutes a resolution (the “Resolution”) adopted at said meeting and the
Resolution is officially of record in my possession.

I further certify that the Resolution, with all exhibits attached, was deposited in my
office on November 1, 2023, and that pursuant to the Resolution, a Notice of Public
Hearing and Bonds to be Issued will be posted no less than fourteen (14) days before the
public hearing date as a Class A notice under Section 63G-30-102, Utah Code Annotated
1953, as amended: (a) on the Utah Public Notice Website created under Section 63A-16-
601, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, (b) on the City’s official website and (c) in
a public location in or near the affected area of the Authority that is reasonably likely to be
seen by the residents of the affected area of the Authority.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my signature and impressed
hereon the official seal of said Authority, on November 1, 2023.

Secretary

(SEAL)

4866-4074-2792, v. 3 12



EXHIBIT A

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH
OPEN MEETING LAW

I, Michelle Pitt, the undersigned Secretary of the Municipal Building Authority of
Tooele City, Utah (the “Authority”), do hereby certify, according to the records of the
Authority in my official possession, and upon my own knowledge and belief, that in
accordance with the requirements of Section 52-4-202, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as
amended, I gave not less than twenty-four (24) hours public notice of the agenda, date,
time and place of the November 1, 2023 public meeting held by the Authority as follows:

(a) By causing a Notice, in the form attached hereto as Schedule 1, to
be posted at the meeting location at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the |
convening of the meeting, said Notice having continuously remained so posted and |
available for public inspection until the completion of the meeting; |

(b) By causing a copy of such Notice, in the form attached hereto as
Schedule 1, to be posted to the Utah Public Notice Website (http://pmn.utah.gov)
at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the convening of the meeting; and

(©) By causing a Notice, in the form attached hereto as Schedule 1, to
be posted on the Authority’s official website at least twenty-four (24) hours prior
to the convening of the meeting.

The Authority does not schedule its meetings in advance over the course of the
year.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my official signature this
November 1, 2023.

Secretary

4866-4074-2792, v. 3 A-1



4866-4074-2792, v. 3

SCHEDULE 1

NOTICE OF MEETING



x

TOOe [e C Z City Recorder’s Office

Est. 1853

PUBLIC NOTICE

Notice is Hereby Given that Municipal Building Authority (MBA) of Tooele City will meet in a Business Meeting
on Wednesday, November 1, 2023, immediately following the Tooele City Council Business Meeting. The
Meeting will be Held in the Tooele City Hall Council Chambers, Located at 90 North Main Street, Tooele, Utah.
The Complete public notice is posted on the Utah Public Notice Website www.utah.gov, the Tooele City Website
www.tooelecity.org, and at Tooele City Hall. To request a copy of the public notice or for additional inquiries

please contact Michelle Pitt, City Recorder at (435)843-2111 or michellep@tooelecity.org

We encourage you to join the MBA meeting electronically by visiting the Tooele City YouTube Channel, at
https:/tinyurl.com/ykipjx4z or by going to YouTube.com and searching “Tooele City Channel”.

5.

AGENDA
Open MBA Meeting
Roll Call

Resolution 2023-03 A Resolution Authorizing the Issuance and Sale By the Municipal Building
Authority of Tooele City, Utah (the “Authority”) of Not More Than $8,500,000 Aggregate Principal
Amount of Its Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (the “Bonds”); Delegating to Certain Officers of
the Authority the Ability to Approve the Final Terms and Provisions of the Bonds Within the
Parameters Set Forth Herein; Fixing the Maximum Aggregate Principal Amount of the Bonds, the
Maximum Number of Years Over Which the Bonds May Mature, the Maximum Interest Rate
Which the Bonds May Bear, and the Maximum Discount From Par at Which the Bonds May Be
Sold; Calling a Public Hearing; Providing for the Posting of a Notice of Public Hearing and Bonds
to Be Issued; Providing for the Running of a Contest Period; Authorizing and Approving the
Execution By the Authority of a Master Resolution, Master Lease Agreement, Ground Lease
Agreement, Security Documents, and Other Documents Necessary for the Issuance of the Bonds;
Authorizing the Taking of All Other Actions Necessary to the Consummation of the Transactions
Contemplated By This Resolution, and Related Matters
Presented by Shannon Wimmer, Finance Director

Minutes
October 18, 2023

Adjourn

LM/U/ L, U,ng

ichelle Y. Pitt, ecretary

Pursuant to the Amencans with Disabilities Act, Individuals Needing Special Accommodations Should Notify
Michelle Y. Pitt, Tooele City Recorder, at 435-843-2111 or michellep@tooelecity.org, Prior to the Meeting.

90 North Main Street | Tooele, Utah 84074
435-843-2113 | 435-843-2119 (fax) | www.tooelecity.org



EXHIBIT B

FORM OF MASTER RESOLUTION

B-1

4866-4074-2792, v. 3



MUNICIPAL BUILDING AUTHORITY OF
TOOELE CITY, UTAH

MASTER RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE
ISSUANCE AND SALE OF
$8,500,000
LEASE REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2023

Dated as of December 1, 2023



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS ..ottt eeeeeeteeteeeessssaseesessssssssesssssssssressssssssssssssssssssssssnees 3
ARTICLE II THE SERIES 2023 BONDS ....ooetieiiiieetteteeeeeetteeeeeessssnteeeesssssssssseesssssssanes 6
Section 2.1.  Authorized Amount 0f BOndS.......cooovveieeiiveeiooeeereeeeeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeees 6
Section 2.2. Issuance of Series 2023 BONAS ..cccooovvevieeveeeieeeeeeeeeeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeees 6

ARTICLE III EXECUTION, AUTHENTICATION, DELIVERY, EXCHANGE AND

REGISTRATION OF SERIES 2023 BONDS ......cccocevevierenenrenincenen. 8
Section 3.1.  Execution; Limited Obligation ........c..cocceevuervienennencienninneincnnens 8
Section 3.2.  AUthentication...........cccceeceeeviieniiniinninnenienecceccrcee e 9
Section 3.3.  Delivery of Series 2023 Bonds .......cccoceverierereeeenensecnienncneneennes 9
Section 3.4. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen, or Destroyed Bonds...........cccceevueeveeucnnnnse 9
Section 3.5.  Exchange of State Bonds to Exchange Bonds..........cccccceeveieuenne. 10
Section 3.6.  Registration ProviSions ........cccceeeeeeruereeieneneesieneeneneeeiesesennens 10
Section 3.7.  Destruction of Bond.........ccccceceviriinineninnienicieiccecicnicneecnnnns 11
Section 3.8.  Temporary Bonds........cccoeveriinieciiniinicniinienieniniciciicincncsaeeneens 11
Section 3.9.  Issuance of Refunding Bonds .........ccccocevininincniiiniinininicnnnnn, 12
Section 3.10. Additional Bonds .........cccoceerverrireiieriiniereeneeeereeeecceecene 12
ARTICLE IV REDEMPTION OF BOND BEFORE MATURITY .....ccccovveinnnnnninnnnnnns 15
Section 4.1. Redemption Dates and Prices ........cccceoveeeevecrccvieneniecnnininenninens 15
Section 4.2.  Notice of Redemption .........coceeeeuerereeieceeseerenninreneneneneeeeneenens 16
Section 4.3. Redemption Payments .........ccccoceeeriiiiiiiinnininninineninnniininn, 17
Section 4.4, Cancellation ...........covueeveieiierrieniereeeeeeee e s 17
Section 4.5.  Partial Redemption of Bond...........ccccoceviniiinininnnniniiniiicncnens 17
ARTICLE V GENERAL COVENANTS.......cootttrtrtntneeeeeterereeeteeeieesensesnesseeensnis 18
Section 5.1. Payment of Principal and Interest..........ccocoevuiviinininninniiniininnnns 18
Section 5.2.  Performance of Covenants; the Authority ......c..cccceeeveiiviiiiininnnnns 18
Section 5.3.  Ownership; Instruments of Further Assurance..........c.cccocvevennnnen. 18
Section 5.4.  Perfection of Security Interest .........cccoceverveevreeeeneerenseeneerecnneenene 19
Section 5.5.  Inspection of Project BOOKS.......c.ccceverienieniniencnienineiiciciciinenns 19
Section 5.6.  List of Bondholders........c..coeeveeeieienenenieienieiercieeceereeeeienees 19
Section 5.7.  Rights under Master Lease and the Security Documents .............. 19
Section 5.8.  Designation of the Secretary as Bond Registrar and Paying Agent
and Designation of Any Additional Paying Agents....................... 19
Section 5.9.  Filing 0f RECOTdS........cccuemiriiieriiienicieierectciecieiccrcie e 20
ARTICLE VI REVENUES AND FUNDS.....cociotinrtreeieicretereneesssnesesessnes 21
Section 6.1.  Source of Payment of Bond .........ccccoceeuenievieninieiiennenieieeceecnns 21
Section 6.2.  Creation of Bond Fund..........c..ccceceeeinienninciicnicncieicicnicans 21
Section 6.3. Payments into Bond Fund...........cc.cocoeeeiniinininnincnncniiiininnns 21
Section 6.4. Use of Moneys in Bond Fund............cccooeeiriininncncnnenicccnenen. 22



Section 10.10.
Section 10.11.

Section 11.1. Supplemental Resolutions Not Requiring Consent of Bondholders.33

4855-4387-1368, v. 2

Section 6.5.  Custody of Bond Fund...........coceoveviiieiininnienienineninceescceesieeeeens 22
Section 6.6.  Creation of Reserve Fund. ..........cccceveninniininiennninciienieiceneneens 22
Section 6.7.  Deposit to and Use of Moneys in the Reserve Fund...................... 22
Section 6.8.  Deposit of Series 2023 Bonds Proceeds; Disbursements. ............. 23
Section 6.9. Non-presentment of Series 2023 Bond. .......c..cocevvevinniincniiniinens 23
Section 6.10. Repayment to the City from Bond Fund or Reserve Fund. ........... 23
Section 6.11. Custody of Separate Trust Fund. .........ccccoecereeirenncnnicncninccnnene 23
ARTICLE VII INVESTMENT OF MONEYS......cciiiiirtiieteieteciereeteeeeseseeeee e 24
Section 7.1.  Authority to Invest Funds. ........c.cceceeeivernienennieninininiccecececnene 24
Section 7.2. Method of Valuation and Frequency of Valuation. .........cccccueuen. 24
ARTICLE VIII RIGHTS OF THE CITY ...ooteiiiriiinienininieenienteeneeteiesieeesesseseeeesessesesene 24
Section 8.1.  Subordination of Rights to City. .......cccceeevereenennncrrcnencncneiennens 24
Section 8.2.  Granting of Rights in and to the Project. ..........ccccooeeieneriivencnen. 24
Section 8.3.  Release of Equipment Forming a Part of the Project..................... 24
ARTICLE IX DISCHARGE OF LIEN .....c.coceitntiinieinienieenieenieneetnieseeeesseseesesseseeseseenens 25
ARTICLE X DEFAULT PROVISIONS AND REMEDIES ........cccccooiininininenreneccneenens 27
Section 10.1. Events of Default. .........ccooevieniiiieniiiiiiiinicinienenen s 27
Section 10.2. Acceleration, Limitation on Remedies. ........ccccecvveeevernieencreennnenn. 28
Section 10.3. Surrender of Possession of Project; Rights and Duties of Authority
10 POSSESSION. ...cuveneieiietiiitetetetete ettt e eneane 28
Section 10.4. Other Remedies; Rights of Bondholders. ..........cccoceceeircvnnennncne 29
Section 10.5. Right of Bondholders to Direct Proceedings. .........c.ccceccrverueennnene 29
Section 10.6. Appointment 0f RECEIVETS. .......ccuevurerrrririieieirinenienieseeseeseeseenens 30
Section 10.7. WAILVET. ..cccceviriiiiriiientreeiecterecteresre ettt svesseebe e essesness 30
Section 10.8. Application 0f MONEYS. .......ccceverruerieiienirieeienienenientenieeeeeenaeens 30
Section 10.9. Remedies Vested........ccccooeviriininiininnicncinienieenentercceercsneenees 31

Rights and Remedies of Bondholders...........cccceevierienvienicnnnnncne 31
Termination of Proceedings.........cccceeieevieenerncenienecnneeenerneennee 32

Section 10.12. Waivers of Events of Default..........ccccocevvevenenenenncnennencncecnen. 32
Section 10.13. Notice of Events of Default under Section 10.1(b); Opportunity of

the Authority and the City to Cure Such Events of Default. ......... 32

ARTICLE XI SUPPLEMENTAL RESOLUTIONS .......ccoontitrieireteieieiieeeeeseeeseeneeeens 33

Section 11.2. Supplemental Resolutions Requiring Consent of Bondholders.....33
ARTICLE XII AMENDMENT OF MASTER LEASE ......ccccootviiiinininineneereenresseseeseenns 34
Section 12.1. Amendments, etc. to Master Lease Not Requiring Consent of
BONAhOIAETS. ......cooveiiieieiiiiirereseetceee ettt 34
Section 12.2. Amendments, etc. to the Master Lease Requiring Consent of
BONdhOIAErS. ....c..cvveriiieiiieiieereeeeeeccceee ettt 35
ARTICLE XIII MISCELLANEOUS .......oooioiitetiieeeteeneeret et saest et sessasssssassessassenne 36
ii



Section 13.1.

Consents, etc. of Bondholders. .........cccoovveeeiieeieieciieeereeieeeeeene 36

Section 13.2. Limitation of Rights. .........ccceveeiirieniniiierececceeeeeeee e 36
Section 13.3. SeVErability. .......ccccuievuieriieriiereeneereeieere ettt 36
Section 13.4. NOLICES. ..eoeerieriiriiirieeieeieeee ettt sre e sanesasens 36
Section 13.5. Payments Due on Saturdays, Sundays, and Holidays.................... 37
Section 13.6. Applicable Provisions of Law.........ccceceevueriiiieniinienceenenicicniennens 37
Section 13.7. Rules of Interpretation. .........ccccecveveeverernienierneniireneeseeeeeeeeeeeees 37
Section 13.8. Captions. c..cc.coveveeuerierienienieiereteteee et se e aes 37
EXHIBIT A FORM OF STATE BOND ....c.eoiiniiriiieieietreeeeieeeceeeeeeeseee e ceeenes A-1
EXHIBIT B FORM OF EXCHANGE BOND .......cccoctiitririieienteieneenrereneensesressensennens B-1
EXHIBIT C DESCRIPTION OF THE PROJECT AND PROJECT SITE.................... C-1
il

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



MASTER RESOLUTION

WHEREAS, Tooele City, Utah (the “City”), has previously authorized and directed the
creation of the Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah (the “Authority”), pursuant to
the provisions of a resolution (the “Creating Resolution™); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the direction of the City Council (the “City Council”’) contained
in the Creating Resolution, the Authority has been duly and regularly created, established and is
organized and existing as a nonprofit corporation under and by virtue of the provisions of the
constitution and laws of the State of Utah, including, in particular, the provisions of the Utah
Revised Nonprofit Corporation Act, Title 16, Chapter 6a, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended
(the “Nonprofit Corporation Act”) and the Local Building Authority Act, Title 17D, Chapter 2,
Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, (the “Local Building Authority Act,” and together with
the Nonprofit Corporation Act, the “Acts”); and

WHEREAS, under the Articles of Incorporation of the Authority (the “Articles”), the
objects and purposes for which the Authority has been founded and incorporated are to acquire,
improve, or extend one or more projects and to finance their cost on behalf of the City in
accordance with the procedures and subject to the limitations of the Local Building Authority Act
in order to accomplish the public purposes for which the City exists; and

WHEREAS, the Authority is possessed under the Articles of all powers set forth in the
Acts and the Constitution and other laws of the State of Utah, including, without limitation, the
power to acquire, own, hold, lease, and improve real and personal property, and to enter into
agreements providing for a lease, mortgage, or other conveyance of real and personal property and
to issue its notes, bonds, or other obligations; and

WHEREAS, the Authority and the City desire to (a) finance the construction of a fire
station and all related improvements (collectively, the “Project”) and (b) pay costs associated with
the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds; and

WHEREAS, the Authority now desires to finance such Project through the issuance of its
Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 (the “Series 2023 Bonds”); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to a Master Lease Agreement dated as of even date herewith between
the Authority and the City (the “Master Lease”), the City will lease, as lessee, the Project from the
Authority on an annually renewable basis; and

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to lease, as lessee, the real property upon which the
Project is to be constructed from the City, as lessor, pursuant to the terms and provisions of that
certain Ground Lease Agreement (the “Ground Lease”) dated as of even date herewith; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of a Resolution adopted on November 1, 2023 (the
“Authority Resolution”), the Governing Board of the Authority (the “Governing Board”) has
authorized, approved, and directed the execution of the Master Lease and has authorized and
approved certain actions to be taken by the Authority in connection with the financing of the
Project, including the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds hereunder; and



WHEREAS, it has been determined by the City and the Authority that the estimated
amount necessary to finance the Project, including necessary expenses incidental thereto, will
require the issuance, sale, and delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds in the total principal amount of
$8,500,000 as hereinafter provided; and

WHEREAS, the Authority has determined that the Series 2023 Bonds shall be secured as
provided herein and has ascertained and determined that the provisions herein contained for
protecting and enforcing the rights and remedies of the registered owners of such Series 2023
Bonds are reasonable, proper, and in accordance with law, and that this Master Resolution is
necessary to the performance of its duties and the execution of its powers under law, and does
deem and determine all of the provisions herein contained to be reasonable and proper for the
security of the registered owners of the Series 2023 Bonds; and

WHEREAS, all acts and things required by law and by the Articles and Bylaws of the
Authority necessary to make this Master Resolution a valid and binding instrument for the security
of all Bonds duly issued hereunder have been done and performed, and the execution and delivery
of this Master Resolution have been in all respects duly authorized; and

WHEREAS, the Series 2023 Bonds in registered form and the certificate of authentication
to be endorsed on the Series 2023 Bonds if issued as State Bonds are to be in substantially the
appropriate form set forth in Exhibit A, and if issued as Exchange Bonds are to be in substantially
the appropriate form set forth in Exhibit B hereto, with appropriate variations, omissions, and
insertions as permitted or required by this Master Resolution; and

WHEREAS, all things necessary to make the Series 2023 Bonds when authenticated by
the Authority and issued as in this Master Resolution provided, the valid, binding, and legal
obligations of the Authority according to the import thereof, and to constitute this Master
Resolution a valid assignment and pledge of the amounts pledged to the payment of the principal
of and premium, if any, on the Series 2023 Bonds, and to constitute this Master Resolution a valid
assignment of (a) the rights of the Authority with respect to the Project under the Master Lease
(except the rights of the Authority under Sections 6.3(d), 13.3 and 14.5 of the Master Lease) and
(b) the rights of the City with respect to the Project have been done and performed and the creation,
execution, and delivery of this Master Resolution, and the creation, execution, and issuance of the
Series 2023 Bonds, subject to the terms hereof, have in all respects been duly authorized:

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Governing Board of the Municipal Building
Authority of Tooele City, Utah, as follows:

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

All terms defined in Article I of the Master Lease shall have the same meaning in this
Master Resolution unless otherwise indicated. In addition, unless the context otherwise requires,
the terms defined in this Article I shall, for all purposes of this Master Resolution and the Master
Lease, have the meaning herein specified.

“Authority” means the Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City, Utah.

“Bond Documents” means the Master Lease, the Ground Lease, the Security Documents,
and this Master Resolution.

“Bond Fund” means the bond fund established under Section 6.2 herein.

“Bondholder” or “Registered Owner” means the person or persons in whose name or names
a Bond shall be registered on the books of the Authority kept for that purpose in accordance with
provisions of this Master Resolution.

“CIB” means the State of Utah Permanent Community Impact Fund Board, or any
successor agency.

“City” means Tooele City, Utah, and its successors and assigns.
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Escrow Account”’ means the escrow account created and administered under the Escrow
Agreement by the Escrow Agent.

“Escrow Agent” means the Treasurer for the State of Utah, or its successors and assigns.

“Escrow Agreement” means the Escrow Agreement by and among the Authority, the City,
the CIB, and the Escrow Agent.

“Event of Default” means any occurrence or event specified in and defined by Section 10.1
hereof.

“Exchange Bonds” means the fully registered Series 2023 Bonds issued in substantially
the appropriate form set forth in Exhibit B, in exchange for the State Bond representing the Series
2023 Bonds, or in exchange for other Exchange Bonds, in the denomination of $1,000 or any
integral multiple thereof.

“Government Obligations” means solely one or more of the following:

€)) State and Local Government Series issued by the United States Treasury
(“SLGS”);

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



(b)  United States Treasury bills, notes, and bonds, as traded on the open market;
and

() Zero Coupon United States Treasury Bonds.

“Investment Obligations” shall mean any investment permitted for investment of public
funds under the State Money Management Act, Title 51, Chapter 7, Utah Code Annotated 1953,
as amended, with an appropriate market value and of an appropriate maturity.

“Master Lease” means the Master Lease Agreement dated as of December 1, 2023,
between the City and the Authority, and any amendments and supplements thereto.

“Original Issue Date” means the initial delivery date of the Series 2023 Bonds.

“Outstanding” or “Bonds Outstanding” means all Bonds which have been authenticated
and delivered by the Authority under this Master Resolution, except:

(a) Bonds canceled after purchase in the open market or because of payment at or
redemption prior to maturity;

(b)  Bonds for the payment or redemption of which cash funds shall have been
theretofore deposited with a trustee (whether upon or prior to the maturity or redemption
date of any such Bonds); provided that if such Bonds are to be redeemed prior to the
maturity thereof, notice of such redemption shall have been given;

(©) Bonds in lieu of which others have been authenticated under Section 3.4,
Section 3.8, Section 3.9, Section 3.10 and Section 4.5 hereof; and

(d) Bonds deemed paid under Article IX of this Master Resolution.

“Paying Agent” with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds means the Secretary of the
Authority, and his/her successors.

“Principal Payment Date” means each October 1, commencing October 1, 2025.

“Project” means the construction of a fire station and all related improvements, as more
fully described in Exhibit C hereto.

“Project Site” means real property, as more fully described in Exhibit C hereof, upon which
the Project is located.

“Registrar” with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds means the Secretary of the Authority,
and his/her successors.

“Reserve Fund Requirement” means, with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds, $492,960,
which amount shall be built up pursuant to the terms of the Master Lease and this Master
Resolution, in six (6) annual installments of approximately $82,160, beginning on October 1, 2025.

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



“Security Documents” means the Leasehold Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents and
Security Agreement (the “Deed of Trust”) and an Assignment of Ground Lease with respect to the
Project.

“Series 2023 Bonds” or “Bond” means the Authority’s Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023
issued in the aggregate principal amount of $8,500,000.

“State Bond or Bonds” means the single fully registered Series 2023 Bond issued in
substantially the appropriate forms set forth in Exhibit A.

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE II
THE SERIES 2023 BONDS

Section 2.1.  Authorized Amount of Bonds. No Series 2023 Bonds may be issued under
the provisions of this Master Resolution except in accordance with this Article. The total principal
amount of Series 2023 Bonds that may be issued is hereby expressly limited to $8,500,000 except
as provided in Section 3.4, Section 3.5, Section 3.8, Section 3.9, Section 3.10, and Section 4.5
hereof.

Section 2.2.  Issuance of Series 2023 Bonds. For purposes of (a) financing the cost of
constructing the Project and (b) paying costs of issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Authority
hereby authorizes the issuance of its Series 2023 Bonds in the principal amount of $8,500,000.
The Series 2023 Bonds shall be issued (i) if issued as State Bonds, in substantially the form set
forth in Exhibit A, and (ii) if issued as Exchange Bonds, in substantially the form set forth in
Exhibit B; in fully registered form, shall bear interest at the rate of four percent (4.00%) per annum.
If issued as Exchange Bonds, the Series 2023 Bonds shall be in the denomination of $1,000 or any
integral multiple thereof. The Series 2023 Bonds shall be numbered from one (1) consecutively
upward in order of delivery by the Registrar. The Series 2023 Bonds shall be designated as, and
shall be distinguished from Bonds of all other Series by the title, “Municipal Building Authority
of Tooele City, Utah Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2023.”

The Series 2023 Bonds shall bear interest at the rate of four percent (4.00%) per annum
and shall accrue on the unpaid principal balance of the Series 2023 Bonds from October 1, 2024
and shall be payable annually beginning October 1, 2025 and on each October 1 thereafter until
the Series 2023 Bonds are paid in full. Principal on the Series 2023 Bonds shall be paid in
installments beginning October 1, 2025, and continuing on each October 1 thereafter until the
Series 2023 Bonds are paid in full, as follows:

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



Payment Date Amount of Payment Date Amount of
(October 1) Principal Payment (October 1) Principal Payment
2025 $152,000 2040 $273,000
2026 158,000 2041 284,000
2027 164,000 2042 295,000
2028 171,000 2043 307,000
2029 177,000 2044 319,000
2030 184,000 2045 332,000
2031 192,000 2046 345,000
2032 199,000 2047 359,000
2033 207,000 2048 373,000
2034 216,000 2049 388,000
2035 224,000 2050 404,000
2036 233,000 2051 420,000
2037 243,000 2052 438,000
2038 252,000 2053 455,000
2039 262,000 2054 474,000

If any annual installment of principal and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds is not paid
when due and payable, the Authority shall pay interest on the delinquent installment at the rate of
eighteen percent (18%) per annum from said due date until paid.

Except as provided in the next succeeding paragraph, payments, whether at maturity or by
redemption shall be payable upon presentation and surrender for payment of the Series 2023 Bonds
by check in any currency which on the date of payment is legal tender for the payment of debts
due the United States of America, to the Registered Owner thereof and shall be paid by check or
draft mailed to the Registered Owner thereof at its address as it appears on the registration books
of the Authority maintained by the Registrar or at such other address as is furnished to the Registrar
in writing by such Registered Owner.

So long as the CIB is the Registered Owner of the State Bonds, payments of principal and
interest shall be made by check or draft and mailed to the CIB as the Registered Owner at the
address shown on the registration books maintained by the Registrar.

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE III

EXECUTION, AUTHENTICATION, DELIVERY, EXCHANGE AND
REGISTRATION OF SERIES 2023 BONDS

Section 3.1.  Execution; Limited Obligation. The Series 2023 Bonds shall be executed
on behalf of the Authority with the facsimile or manual signature of the Chair of its Governing
Board and shall have impressed or imprinted thereon the official seal of the Authority and be
attested with the facsimile or manual signature of the Secretary of the Governing Board of the
Authority. All authorized facsimile signatures shall have the same force and effect as if manually
signed.

The Series 2023 Bonds shall not be a general obligation but shall be special, limited
obligations of the Authority payable solely out of and to the extent available from the Base Rentals,
and, if paid by the City, the Purchase Option Price and other amounts derived from the leasing of
the Project (except to the extent paid out of moneys attributable to the proceeds derived from the
sale of the Series 2023 Bonds or to income from the temporary investment thereof and, under
certain circumstances, to moneys held in funds or accounts by the Authority to proceeds from
insurance policies, performance bonds, condemnation awards, and liquidation proceeds with
respect to the Project) and shall be a valid claim of the respective Bondholders thereof only against
the Bond Fund, the Reserve Fund and other moneys held by the Authority and the Base Rentals,
and other amounts derived from the leasing of the Project under the Master Lease, which Base
Rentals and other amounts are hereby pledged, assigned, and otherwise secured for the equal and
ratable payment of the Series 2023 Bonds and shall be used for no other purpose than to pay the
principal of the Series 2023 Bonds, except as may be otherwise expressly authorized in this Master
Resolution or in the Master Lease. The Authority shall not be obligated to pay the principal of and
interest on such Series 2023 Bonds, or other costs incident thereto except from the moneys pledged
therefor under this Master Resolution. The Series 2023 Bonds shall never constitute an
indebtedness of the City within the meaning of any constitutional limitation or statutory provision
and shall not constitute or give rise to a pecuniary liability of the City or a charge against the
general credit or taxing power of the City. Neither the City, nor the Authority on its behalf, has
pledged the credit of the City to the payment of the Series 2023 Bonds, interest or amounts due or
to become due under the Master Lease. The City shall not be obligated to appropriate City Funds
for the purpose of paying Base Rentals, Additional Rentals, or the Purchase Option Price under
the Master Lease, and no judgment may be entered against the City in the event of an insufficiency
of moneys to pay the principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds. The payment obligations
of the City under the Master Lease are subject to annual renewal and will be terminated upon the
occurrence of an Event of Non-appropriation. In such event, all payments from the City under the
Master Lease will terminate, and the Series 2023 Bonds and interest thereon will be payable solely
from and to the extent of such moneys, if any, as may be held by the Authority under this Master
Resolution (except amounts held for the payment of Bonds not deemed Outstanding) and any
moneys made available from a liquidation of the Project subsequent to foreclosure of the lien of
this Master Resolution and the Security Documents. No deficiency judgment subsequent to
foreclosure of the lien of this Master Resolution and the Security Documents may be entered
against the City or the Authority, and no breach of any provision of the Master Lease, the Security
Documents, or this Master Resolution shall impose any general obligation or liability upon or a
charge against the City or the Authority or upon the general credit or taxing powers of the City.

8
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



No judgment requiring a payment of money may be entered against the City under the Master
Lease.

Section 3.2.  Authentication. No Series 2023 Bonds shall be valid or obligatory for any
purpose or entitled to any security or benefit under this Master Resolution unless and until a
certificate of authentication on such Series 2023 Bonds substantially in the form herein below set
forth shall have been duly executed by the Secretary of the Authority, and such executed certificate
upon any such Series 2023 Bonds shall be conclusive evidence that such Series 2023 Bond has
been authenticated and delivered under this Master Resolution. The certificate of authentication
on any Series 2023 Bonds shall be deemed to have been executed by an authorized officer of the
Authority if executed by the Secretary of the Authority, but it shall not be necessary that the same
person acting as Secretary sign the certificate of authentication on all of the Series 2023 Bonds.

Section 3.3.  Delivery of Series 2023 Bonds. Upon the execution and delivery of this
Master Resolution, the Authority shall execute and deliver and the Secretary of the Authority shall
authenticate the Series 2023 Bonds and deliver them to the CIB as directed by the Authority as
hereinafter in this Section 3.3 provided.

Prior to the delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds, there shall be filed with the Authority:

(a) A copy, duly certified by the Secretary of the Authority of a resolution
adopted by the Governing Board of the Authority, and a copy, duly certified by the City
Recorder of the City, of a resolution of the City Council of the City, authorizing the
issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds and the execution and delivery of this Master Resolution,
the Master Lease, the Ground Lease and the Security Documents;

(b) Original executed counterparts of the Master Lease, the Ground Lease, the
Security Documents, and this Master Resolution;

(©) An ALTA mortgagee’s policy, or commitment therefor, of mortgage title
insurance in an amount equal to the principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds, issued by
a title insurance company satisfactory to the Authority insuring that (i) the Authority has a
valid leasehold interest in the Project Site, (ii) the City has the valid interest described in
the Ground Lease, (iii) the Project is subject only to Permitted Encumbrances, and (iv) the
Security Documents constitute a first lien on the Project Site subject only to Permitted
Encumbrances. The policy shall also provide protection against any mechanic’s or
materialman’s liens. In the event that title insurance on any portion of the property interests
described above cannot be provided at the time of issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds,
delivery of such title insurance shall be provided prior to disbursement of amounts to pay
costs of such portion of the Project; and

(d) A certificate or other documentation evidencing that the City has insured
the Project as required by Article IX of the Master Lease.

Section 3.4. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen, or Destroyed Bonds. In the event any Bond is
mutilated, lost, stolen, or destroyed, the Authority may execute and authenticate a new Bond of
like date, maturity, and denomination to that mutilated, lost, stolen, or destroyed; provided that, in
the case of any mutilated Bond, such mutilated Bond shall first be surrendered to the Authority,

9
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



and in the case of any lost, stolen, or destroyed Bond, there shall be first furnished to the Authority
evidence of such loss, theft, or destruction satisfactory to the Authority, together with an indemnity
satisfactory to them. In the event any such Bond shall have matured or is about to mature, instead
of issuing a duplicate Bond, the Authority may pay the same without surrender thereof making
such requirements as it deems fit for its protection, including a lost instrument bond or other
satisfactory indemnity. The Authority may charge the Bondholder of such Bond with its
reasonable fees and expenses in this connection.

Section 3.5.  Exchange of State Bonds to Exchange Bonds. As long as the CIB is the
sole Registered Owner of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Series 2023 Bonds shall be issued only as
the State Bond in the form prescribed in Exhibit A. It is recognized that the CIB may sell or
otherwise transfer the Series 2023 Bonds pursuant to the provisions of the State Financing
Consolidation Act, Title 63B, Chapter 1b, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, or otherwise.
In the event the CIB determines to sell or otherwise transfer all or a portion of the Series 2023
Bonds pursuant to the State Financing Consolidation Act, or otherwise, the State Bonds may be
exchanged at the office of the Paying Agent for a like aggregate principal amount of Exchange
Bonds in accordance with the provisions of this Section 3.5 hereof. Exchange Bonds may
thereafter be exchanged from time to time for other Exchange Bonds in accordance with Section
3.6 hereof. Any Series 2023 Bonds, or any portion thereof, which is sold or otherwise transferred
or liquidated by the CIB pursuant to the State Financing Consolidation Act, or otherwise, shall be
in the form of an Exchange Bond prescribed in Exhibit B, and shall be executed pursuant to an
authorization contained in Section 3.6 hereof. Each payment on the State Bond not previously
paid or canceled shall be represented by an equivalent principal amount of Exchange Bond, in
authorized denominations, and of like maturity. The Authority and its officers shall execute and
deliver such documents and perform such acts as may reasonably be required by the Authority to
accomplish the exchange of the State Bond for Exchange Bond, provided that the CIB shall pay
or cause to be paid all costs and other charges incident to such exchange and the Authority shall
have no obligation to pay any such costs or charges. The Secretary is hereby authorized to sign
the authentication certificate on the Exchange Bond when issued. The Exchange Bond shall not
be valid or become obligatory for any purpose nor be entitled to any security or benefit until the
Secretary has signed such authentication certificate on the Bond.

Section 3.6.  Registration Provisions. The Authority shall cause books for the
registration and for the transfer of the Series 2023 Bonds to be kept by the Secretary who is hereby
appointed the Registrar of the Issuer with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds. Any Series 2023
Bonds may, in accordance with its terms, be transferred only upon the registration books kept by
the Registrar, by the person in whose name it is registered, in person or by his/her duly authorized
attorney, upon surrender of such Series 2023 Bonds for cancellation, accompanied by delivery of
a written instrument of transfer in a form approved by the Registrar, duly executed. No transfer
shall be effective until entered on the registration books kept by the Registrar. Upon surrender for
transfer of any Series 2023 Bonds duly endorsed by or accompanied by a written instrument or
instruments of transfer in form satisfactory to the Registrar and duly executed by, the Registered
Owner or his/her attorney duly authorized in writing, the Authority shall execute and deliver in the
name of the transferee or transferees, a new bond or bond of the same maturity for a like aggregate
principal amount as the Series 2023 Bonds surrendered for transfer. The Series 2023 Bonds may
be exchanged at the office of the Registrar for a like aggregate principal amount of Series 2023
Bonds of other authorized denominations and the same series and maturity. The execution by the

10
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



Authority of any Series 2023 Bonds of any authorized denomination shall constitute full and due
authorization of such denomination, and the Registrar shall thereby be authorized to deliver such
Series 2023 Bonds. The Registrar shall not be required to transfer or exchange any Exchange
Bond at any time following the mailing of notice calling such Series 2023 Bonds for redemption.

The Series 2023 Bonds surrendered for final payment, redemption, or exchange, shall be
promptly canceled and destroyed by the Authority.

The Authority, the Registrar, and the Paying Agent may treat and consider the person in
whose name each Series 2023 Bonds is registered on the registration books kept by the Registrar
as the holder and absolute owner thereof for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account
of, the principal or redemption price thereof and for all other purposes whatsoever, and neither the
Authority, nor the Registrar nor the Paying Agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.
Payment of any Series 2023 Bond shall be made only to or upon order of the Registered Owner
thereof or his/her legal representative, but such registration may be changed as hereinabove
provided. All such payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon
such Series 2023 Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid.

The Authority may require the payment by the Registered Owner requesting exchange or
transfer of Series 2023 Bonds of any tax or other governmental charge and any service charge
which are required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfer and such charges shall be
paid before such new Bond shall be delivered.

Section 3.7.  Destruction of Bond. Whenever any Outstanding Bond shall be delivered
to the Authority for cancellation pursuant to this Master Resolution, upon final payment of the
principal amount represented thereby, or for replacement or exchange, transfer or partial
redemption pursuant to Section 3.4, Section 3.5, Section 3.8, or Section 4.5 hereof, such Bond
shall be promptly canceled and cremated or otherwise destroyed by the Authority and counterparts
of a certificate of destruction evidencing such cremation or other destruction shall be furnished by
the Authority to the City.

Section 3.8. Temporary Bonds. Bonds may be initially issued in temporary form
exchangeable for definitive Bond when ready for delivery. The temporary Bond shall be of such
denomination or denominations as may be determined by the Authority and may contain such
reference to any of the provisions of this Master Resolution as may be appropriate. Every
temporary Bond shall be executed and authenticated by the Authority upon the same conditions
and in substantially the same manner as the definitive Bond. If the Authority issues temporary
Bonds, it will execute and furnish definitive Bonds at the Authority’s expense (and without cost
to the Bondholders of such temporary Bond) without unreasonable delay and thereupon the
temporary Bond may be surrendered for cancellation and exchange therefor at the principal office
of the Authority, and the Authority shall authenticate and deliver in exchange for such temporary
Bond an equal aggregate principal amount of definitive registered Bond of authorized
denominations of the same series and the same maturity. Until so exchanged, the temporary Bond
shall be entitled to the same benefits under this Master Resolution as a definitive Bond
authenticated and delivered hereunder.

11
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



Section 3.9.  Issuance of Refunding Bonds. To the extent permitted by law, the Authority
may, at the request of the City, authorize the issuance of Refunding Bonds upon the terms and
conditions provided herein and in Section 11.7 of the Master Lease. Refunding Bonds may be
issued to provide funds to refund the Series 2023 Bond then Outstanding, in whole or in part, and
to pay the costs of the issuance and sale of the Refunding Bonds and other costs reasonably related
to the financing as shall be agreed upon by the City and the Authority; provided, however, that (a)
the Authority shall not be in default under this Master Resolution, the Ground Lease, the Security
Documents, or the Master Lease or any provision thereof or hereof, and the issuance of Refunding
Bonds shall not constitute a default under the Master Lease or cause any violation of the covenants
or representations of the City or the Authority in the Master Lease, the Security Documents, or in
this Master Resolution; (b) no Event of Default or Event of Non-appropriation shall have occurred
under the Master Lease; (c) the Authority shall have otherwise complied with the provisions of
this Section 3.9 with respect to the issuance of such Refunding Bonds; and (d) if the CIB is the
present owner of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Authority shall have obtained the prior written
approval of the CIB for the Authority to issue the Refunding Bonds for the Series Bonds owned
by the CIB.

Section 3.10. Additional Bonds. So long as the Master Lease is in effect and no Event of
Default under this Master Resolution, the Ground Lease the Security Documents, or the Master
Lease has occurred and is continuing and so long as no Event of Non-appropriation has occurred
and is continuing, one or more series of Additional Bonds may be issued, authenticated, and
delivered for the purpose of financing (a) costs to complete construction of the Project (except to
the extent paid out of moneys attributable to the proceeds derived from the sale of the Series 2023
Bonds, or to income from the temporary investment thereof and, under certain circumstances, to
moneys held in funds or accounts by the Authority, to proceeds from insurance policies,
performance bonds, condemnation awards, and liquidation proceeds with respect to the Project),
(b) costs of additions or improvements to the Project, or (¢) the cost of acquiring, constructing,
equipping, and furnishing of any sites, buildings, or equipment or continuation thereof, for the use
and benefit of the City, but only to the extent that (d) such additional sites, buildings, and
equipment, or any combination thereof, constitute a “project” within the meaning of the Local
Building Authority Act, and (e€) the Master Lease, the Ground Lease, if applicable and the Security
Documents are amended as herein provided to include such sites, buildings, and equipment as part
of the Project thereunder. Such Additional Bonds shall be payable solely from the Base Rentals
and, if paid by the City, the Purchase Option Price and other amounts derived from the leasing of
the Project. The Additional Bonds may be issued in one or more series, shall be authenticated by
the Authority and, upon payment to the Authority of the proceeds of said sale of Additional Bonds,
they shall be delivered by the Authority to or upon the order of the purchasers thereof, but only
upon there being filed with the Authority:

(a) Evidence of the authorization of the Authority for such issuance, and an
approval by the City of the terms of the Additional Bonds, the purchase price to be paid
therefor and the manner in which the proceeds therefrom are to be disbursed as required
under the Master Lease;

(b)  Original executed counterparts of a supplemental resolution, a supplement
(if necessary) to the Security Documents, the Ground Lease and an amendment of the
Master Lease expressly providing that, for all purposes of this Master Resolution and the

12
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



Master Lease the “Project” shall include any facilities being financed by the Additional
Bonds and that the Bond shall mean and include the Additional Bond being issued as well
as any Bond and Additional Bond theretofore issued, and further providing for an increase
in the Base Rentals to be paid by the City under the Master Lease in such amount as shall
be necessary to pay, assuming that no Event of Default or Event of Non-appropriation shall
occur, the principal of and interest, if any, on the Bond and the Additional Bonds being
issued and any Additional Bonds theretofore issued, and to extend the Lease Term if the
maturity of any of the Additional Bonds would otherwise occur after the expiration of the
then current Lease Term. The date or dates of the Additional Bonds, the rate or rates of
interest on the Additional Bonds, and the redemption provisions (if any) with respect
thereto all shall be as provided in the supplemental resolution rather than as provided in
this Master Resolution, and may differ from the provisions with respect to the Series 2023
Bond set forth in this Master Resolution, except that interest, if any, on such Additional
Bonds shall be payable on October 1 of each year during the term thereof and principal of
the Additional Bond shall, in each year in which principal and interest falls due, be payable
on October 1;

() A written opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, to the effect that
the issuance of the Additional Bonds and the execution thereof have been duly authorized,
all conditions precedent to the delivery thereof have been fulfilled;

(d) A date-down endorsement to the ALTA mortgagee title insurance policy
issued in connection with the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, which endorsement shall
insure to the date of issuance of such Additional Bonds and the recording of any
supplement to the Security Documents the continuing validity of the lien thereof, as
modified by any supplement to the Security Documents, as a first and prior lien on the
premises thereby secured, subject only to Permitted Encumbrances, and which
endorsement shall increase the amount of title insurance coverage thereunder to an amount
at least equal to the principal amount of the Additional Bonds plus the amount of coverage
originally provided in such policy and naming the Authority and the Registered Owner of
the Bond as an insured or, in the alternative, such policy shall be delivered prior to any
disbursements being made for such portion of the Project for which a policy cannot be
delivered at closing;

(e) A copy, duly certified by the City Recorder of the City, of the resolution
adopted and approved by the City Council of the City approving the issuance of such
Additional Bonds and the terms thereof;,

® If such series of Additional Bonds is being issued in whole or in part for
construction purposes, (i) a copy, duly certified by the Secretary of the Authority, of the
project contract and architect’s agreement with respect to such construction and the
performance and payment bond covering such project contract, or a requirement to deliver
the same prior to disbursements being made with respect to such portion of the Project, and
(ii) a certificate of the architect or engineer responsible for planning and designing any
such construction which sets forth the estimated useful life of the project, as so improved
and extended, in compliance with Section 17D-2-302 of the Local Building Authority Act;

13

4855-4387-1368, v. 2



(g) A written opinion of counsel to the City as to the legal, valid, and binding
nature of the amendment to the Master Lease as against the City and such other matters as
may be reasonably required by the purchasers of such Additional Bonds;

(h) A written opinion of counsel to the Authority as to the legal, valid, and
binding nature of the amendment to the Master Lease, and the supplement to this Master
Resolution, the Ground Lease and the Security Documents as against the Authority and
such other matters as may be reasonably required by the purchasers of such Additional
Bonds;

i) A certificate of the Authority, stating that as of the date of such delivery no
event or condition has happened or exists and is continuing, or is happening or existing,
which constitutes, or which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute, an Event
of Default under this Master Resolution, the Security Documents, or the Master Lease and
there has not occurred and is then continuing an Event of Non-appropriation;

)] If the CIB is the present owner of the Series 2023 Bonds, the written
approval of the CIB for the Authority to issue the Additional Bonds; and

(k) Such other agreements, certificates, documents, and opinions as are
required to be delivered to the purchasers of such Additional Bonds, each in form and
substance satisfactory to the Authority and, as to opinions, addressed to the Authority if
the Authority so directs.

Each series of Additional Bonds issued pursuant to this Master Resolution shall be equally
and ratably secured under this Master Resolution and the Security Documents with the Series 2023
Bond and all other series of Additional Bonds, if any, theretofore issued pursuant to this Master
Resolution, without preference, priority, or distinction of any Bond over any other thereof.

14
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE IV
REDEMPTION OF BOND BEFORE MATURITY

Section 4.1. Redemption Dates and Prices. (a) The Series 2023 Bonds are subject to
prepayment and redemption at any time, in whole or in part (if in part, in integral multiples of
$1,000), at the election of the Authority in inverse order of the due date of the principal installments
thereof, upon notice given as hereinafter set forth, at a redemption price equal to the principal
amount to be so prepaid, plus accrued interest on delinquent payments, if any, to the date of
prepayment or redemption.

(b)  The Series 2023 Bonds are also subject to prepayment and redemption in whole on
any date, if (i) the Project or a material portion thereof is damaged or destroyed or taken in
a condemnation proceeding, or a material defect in the construction of the Project shall
become apparent, or title to or the use of all or any material portion of the Project shall be
lost by reason of a defect in title thereto, (ii) the Net Proceeds (as defined in the Master
Lease) of any insurance policy, performance bond, or condemnation award made available
by reason of one or more such occurrences shall be insufficient to pay in full the cost of
repairing and replacing the Project, and (iii) the City elects to discharge its obligation to
repair and replace the Project by depositing such Net Proceeds into the Bond Fund. Upon
the deposit of such Net Proceeds into the Bond Fund, payment obligations of the City with
respect to the Project under the Master Lease shall terminate and the City shall have no
further obligation for the payment of Base Rentals and Additional Rentals with respect to
the Project thereunder, and possession of the Project shall be surrendered to the Authority
for the Bondholders. All right, title, and interest of the City and the Authority in any funds
or accounts created under the Master Resolution (other than amounts held for the payment
of principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bond not then deemed Outstanding) shall be
held by the Authority and applied to the prepayment or redemption of the Series 2023 Bond
at the earliest date practicable. Thereafter, the Security Documents may be foreclosed and
the Project liquidated and the Net Proceeds of such liquidation and of any insurance policy,
performance bond, or condemnation award so deposited in the Bond Fund, as well as all
other moneys on deposit in any fund created under the Master Resolution (except moneys
held for the payment of principal of the Series 2023 Bond, plus accrued interest, if any, not
then deemed Outstanding), shall be applied to the prepayment or redemption of the Series
2023 Bond as the Authority may determine at the earliest date practicable. Such
prepayment or redemption of the Series 2023 Bond shall be made upon payment of the
principal amount of the Series 2023 Bond then Outstanding, all in accordance with the
Master Resolution. IN THE EVENT THE SERIES 2023 BONDS ARE TO BE PREPAID
SUBSEQUENT TO THE OCCURRENCE OF AN EVENT DESCRIBED IN THIS
PARAGRAPH BY PAYMENT OF AN AMOUNT LESS THAN THE OUTSTANDING
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT THEREOF AND ACCRUED INTEREST, IF ANY, TO THE
PREPAYMENT DATE, NO FURTHER CLAIM FOR PAYMENT MAY BE HAD BY
THE HOLDERS OF THE SERIES 2023 BOND AGAINST THE AUTHORITY OR THE
CITY.

If called for prepayment at any time pursuant to the provisions above, the Series 2023
Bonds shall be subject to prepayment by the Authority in whole or in part except that in the event

15
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



‘ that the amount available to prepay such Series 2023 Bonds under paragraph (i) above, following

| a liquidation of all of the Project, is less than the amount required to pay the principal of the Series
2023 Bonds to the prepayment date, the Series 2023 Bonds shall be redeemed in whole and the
amount available therefor applied as provided in Section 10.8(b) hereof. Except as otherwise
provided above, in the event that the Series 2023 Bonds are prepaid, such prepayment will be made
at a price (expressed as a percentage of principal amount) of 100% plus accrued interest on
delinquent payments to the prepayment date.

Section 4.2. Notice of Redemption.

@ In the event any Series 2023 Bonds are to be redeemed, the Registrar shall
cause notice to be given as provided in this Section 4.2. Notice of such redemption shall
be mailed by first class mail, postage prepaid, to all registered owners of Series 2023 Bonds
to be redeemed at their addresses as they appear on the registration books of the Registrar
at least thirty (30) days but not more than forty-five (45) days prior to the date fixed for
redemption. Such notice shall state the following information:

>i) the complete official name of the Series 2023 Bond, including
series, to be redeemed, the identification numbers of the Series 2023 Bond being
redeemed;

(ii)  any other descriptive information needed to identify accurately the
Series 2023 Bond being redeemed, including, but not limited to, the original issue
date of such Series 2023 Bond,

| (ili)  in the case of partial redemption of any Series 2023 Bond, the
respective principal amounts thereof to be redeemed;

| (iv)  the date of mailing of redemption notices and the redemption date;
(v)  the redemption price;

(vi)  that on the redemption date the redemption price will become due
and payable upon each such Series 2023 Bond or portion thereof called for
redemption; and

‘ (vii) the place where such Series 2023 Bond is to be surrendered for
| payment of the redemption price, designating the name and address of the
redemption agent with the name of a contact person and telephone number.

(b)  Upon the payment of the redemption price of Series 2023 Bonds being
redeemed, each check or other transfer of funds issued for such purpose shall identify the
Series 2023 Bond being redeemed with the proceeds of such check or other transfer.

(c) The Registrar shall not give notice of such a redemption until there are on
deposit with the Paying Agent sufficient funds for the payment of the redemption price.

16
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



(d)  Notice of redemption shall be given, not more than forty-five (45) nor less
than thirty (30) days prior to the redemption date, to registered owners of the Series 2023
Bond, or portions thereof, to be redeemed. A second notice of redemption shall be given,
not later than ninety (90) days subsequent to the redemption date, to registered owners of
Series 2023 Bonds or portions thereof redeemed but who failed to deliver Series 2023
Bonds for redemption prior to the 60th day following such redemption date. Any notice
mailed shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not the
registered owner of such Series 2023 Bonds receives the notice. Receipt of such notice
shall not be a condition precedent to such redemption, and failure so to receive any such
notice by any of such registered owners shall not affect the validity of the proceedings for
the redemption of the Series 2023 Bonds.

(e) In case any Series 2023 Bond is to be redeemed in part only, the notice of
redemption which relates to such Series 2023 Bond shall state also that on or after the
redemption date, upon surrender of such Series 2023 Bonds, a new Series 2023 Bond in
principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of such Series 2023 Bonds will be
issued.

Section 4.3. Redemption Payments. Except as otherwise provided in Section 2.2 hereof,
no payment shall be made by the Authority upon any Bond or portion thereof called for prepayment
or redemption until such Bond or portion thereof shall have been delivered for payment or
cancellation or the Authority shall have received the items required by Section 3.4 hereof with
respect to any mutilated, lost, stolen, or destroyed Bond.

Section 4.4. Cancellation. All Series 2023 Bonds which have been redeemed shall not
be reissued but shall be canceled and cremated or otherwise destroyed by the Authority in
accordance with Section 3.7 hereof.

Section 4.5.  Partial Redemption of Bond. Upon surrender of any Exchange Bond for
prepayment or redemption in part only, the Authority shall execute, authenticate, and deliver to
the Bondholder thereof a new Exchange Bond or Bond of the same series and the same maturity,
of authorized denominations in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of
the Exchange Bond surrendered, which new Exchange Bond or Bonds shall be a fully registered
Exchange Bond or Bonds.

17
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE V
GENERAL COVENANTS

Section 5.1. Payment of Principal and Interest. The Authority covenants that it will
promptly pay the principal and interest, if any, of every Bond issued under this Master Resolution
at the place, on the dates, and in the manner provided herein and in the respective Bond according
to the true intent and meaning thereof, but solely from the Base Rentals and, if paid by the City
under the Master Lease, the Purchase Option Price with respect to the Project, the purchase option
price and other amounts pledged therefor which are from time to time held by the Authority in the
Bond Fund and the Reserve Fund. The principal and interest, if any, on the Bonds are payable
solely from the Base Rentals and, if paid by the City, the Purchase Option Price with respect to the
Project, and other amounts derived from the leasing of the Project and otherwise as provided
herein, in the Deed of Trust, and in the Master Lease, which amounts are hereby specifically
pledged to the payment thereof in the manner and to the extent herein and in the Master Lease
specified, and nothing in the Series 2023 Bonds or in this Master Resolution shall be construed as
pledging any other funds or assets of the Authority or the City. The Authority shall in no event be
liable for the payment of the principal of and interest on any of the Series 2023 Bonds or for the
performance of any pledge, obligation, or agreement undertaken by the Authority except to the
extent that the moneys pledged herein, or assets granted herein or in the Security Documents as
security, are sufficient therefor.

Section 5.2.  Performance of Covenants; the Authority. The Authority covenants that it
will faithfully perform at all times any and all covenants, undertakings, stipulations, and provisions
contained in this Master Resolution, in the Master Lease, in the Ground Lease, in the Security
Documents, in any and every Bond executed, authenticated, and delivered hereunder and in all of
its proceedings pertaining hereto. The Authority covenants that it is duly authorized under its
Articles, the Constitution and laws of the State of Utah, including a resolution duly adopted by the
City Council of the City, to issue the Series 2023 Bonds authorized hereby and to execute this
Master Resolution, to assign the Master Lease and to pledge the Base Rentals, the Purchase Option
Price and other amounts hereby pledged in the manner and to the extent herein set forth, that all
action on its part for the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds and the execution and delivery of the
Master Lease, the Ground Lease, the Security Documents, and this Master Resolution has been
duly and effectively taken, and that the Series 2023 Bonds in the hands of the Bondholders are and
will be valid and enforceable special, limited obligations of the Authority according to the terms
thereof and hereof.

Section 5.3.  Ownership; Instruments of Further Assurance. The Authority covenants
that it will own the Project and any property becoming a part of the Project shall be acquired and
kept free of all liens and encumbrances, except Permitted Encumbrances. The Authority will
defend the title to and interest in the Project and each part thereof, for the benefit of the
Bondholders against the claims and demands of all persons whomsoever, except for claims and
demands arising from Permitted Encumbrances as provided in the Master Lease. To the extent
necessary and to the extent it may lawfully do so, the City will join with the Authority in any action
taken by the Authority pursuant to the provisions of the preceding sentence. The Authority will
do, execute, acknowledge, and deliver or cause to be done, executed, acknowledged, and delivered
such resolutions supplemental hereto and such further acts, instruments, and transfers as

18
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



reasonably required for the better assuring, transferring, conveying, pledging, assigning and
confirming all and singular the Project, the Base Rentals, Purchase Option Price, and other
amounts pledged hereby to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds.
The Authority, except as herein and in the Master Lease provided, will not sell, convey, mortgage,
encumber, or otherwise dispose of any part of the Project or the Base Rentals, the Additional
Rentals, Purchase Option Price, revenues, and receipts therefrom or its rights under the Master
Lease, together with any additions thereto and substitutions therefor, subject to Permitted
Encumbrances.

Section 5.4. Perfection of Security Interest.

(a) This Master Resolution creates a valid and binding pledge and assignment
of and security interest in all of the personal property pledged as part of the Project, Base
Rental, and Additional Rentals under this Master Resolution as security for payment of the
Series 2023 Bonds, enforceable by the Bondholder in accordance with the terms thereof.

(b)  Under the laws of the State, such pledge and assignment and security
interest is automatically perfected by Section 11-14-501, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as
amended, and is and shall be prior to any judicial lien hereafter imposed on the personal
property pledged as part of the Project to enforce a judgment against the Authority on a
simple contract.

Section 5.5.  Inspection of Project Books. All books and records of the Authority
wherever located relating to the Project and the Base Rentals, the Additional Rentals, Purchase
Option Price, and other amounts derived from the Project shall at all reasonable times be open to
inspection by such accountants or other agents as the Bondholders may from time to time
designate.

Section 5.6.  List of Bondholders. The Authority shall keep a list of names and addresses
of the Bondholders of all Series 2023 Bonds as from time to time registered on the registration
books of the Authority maintained by the Bond Registrar, together with the principal amount and
numbers of such Series 2023 Bonds. At reasonable times and under reasonable regulations, said
list may be inspected and copied by the City or by Bondholders (or a designated representative
thereof) of fifteen percent (15%) or more in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds
then Outstanding, such ownership and the authority of such designated representative to be
evidenced to the satisfaction of the Authority.

Section 5.7.  Rights under Master Lease and the Security Documents. The Master Lease
and the Security Documents set forth the covenants and obligations of the Authority and the City.
Reference is hereby made to the same for a detailed statement of said covenants and obligations
of the Authority and the City thereunder, and the Authority may enforce all rights of the Authority
and all obligations of the City under and pursuant to the Master Lease and the Security Documents
for and on behalf of the Bondholders, whether or not the Authority is in default hereunder.

Section 5.8. Designation of the Secretary as Bond Registrar and Paying Agent and
Designation of Any Additional Paying Agents. The Secretary is hereby designated and agrees to

act as Registrar and Paying Agent for and in respect to the Series 2023 Bonds. The Authority may

19
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



appoint additional paying agents from time to time by giving notice of such appointments to the
Bondholders. The Authority hereby covenants and agrees to cause the necessary arrangements to
be made for the making available of funds hereunder for the payment of such of the Series 2023
Bonds as shall be presented when due at the principal office of the Paying Agent.

Section 5.9.  Filing of Records. So long as any Series 2023 Bonds remain outstanding,
proper books of record and account will be kept by the Authority separate and apart from all other
records and accounts, showing complete and correct entries of all transactions relating to the
Project. Each Bondholder or any duly authorized agent or agents of such holder shall have the
right at all reasonable times to inspect all records, accounts, and data relating thereto and to inspect
the Project and all properties constituting the Project. Except as otherwise provided herein, the
Authority further agrees that it will within one hundred eighty (180) days following the close of
each fiscal year (the term “fiscal year” as used in this subsection meaning whatever twelve-month
period the Authority may from time to time be using for general financial accounting purposes)
cause an annual financial report of such books and accounts to be made by an independent firm of
certified public accountants, showing the receipts and disbursements for account of the Project,
and that such annual financial report will be available for inspection by each Bondholder; provided,
however, during such periods of time as the CIB is the registered owner of the State Bond, each
such annual financial report will be supplied to the CIB as soon as completed without prior request
therefor by the CIB. Each such annual financial report, in addition to whatever matters may be
thought proper by the accountant to be included therein, shall include the following:

(a A statement in detail of the income and expenditures of the Project for such
fiscal year;

(b) A balance sheet as of the end of such fiscal year;

(c) The accountant’s comments regarding the manner in which the Authority
has carried out the requirements of this Master Resolution, and the accountant’s
recommendations for any change or improvement;

(d) A list of the insurance policies in force at the end of the fiscal year, setting
out as to each policy, the amount of the policy, the risks covered, the name of the insurer,
and the expiration date of the policy; and

(e) An analysis of all funds and accounts created in this Master Resolution,
setting out all deposits and disbursements made during the fiscal year and the amount in
each fund or account at the end of the fiscal year.

The CIB may, upon written request from the Authority setting forth the reasons why an
annual financial report is not necessary or is impractical, waive the annual financial report
requirements for any particular fiscal year set forth in this Section 5.9.

20
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE VI
REVENUES AND FUNDS

Section 6.1.  Source of Payment of Bond. The Series 2023 Bonds herein authorized and
all payments by the Authority hereunder are not general obligations of the Authority but are
special, limited obligations payable solely from the Base Rentals and the Purchase Option Price
and other amounts derived from the Project under the Master Lease and as provided herein.

The Project has been leased under the Master Lease and the Base Rentals and the Purchase
Option Price provided in Sections 6.2 and 12.1, respectively, of the Master Lease are to be remitted
directly to the Authority and deposited in the Bond Fund along with all other moneys authorized
or required to be deposited in the Bond Fund under the Master Lease. Such Base Rentals and
Purchase Option Price are hereby pledged to such payment.

Section 6.2.  Creation of Bond Fund. There is hereby created and held by the Authority
and ordered established a fund to be designated “Municipal Building Authority of Tooele City,
Utah Bond Fund,” which shall be used to pay the principal of the Series 2023 Bonds.

Section 6.3. Payments into Bond Fund. There shall be deposited into the Bond Fund, all
accrued interest received, if any, as and when received, (i) any amount in the Escrow Account
directed to be paid into the Bond Fund pursuant to Section 7.3 of the Master Lease or any amount
in the Reserve Fund directed to be paid into the Bond Fund in accordance with the provisions of
Section 6.7 hereof; (ii) any Net Proceeds of any insurance policy, performance bond, or
condemnation award to be deposited in the Bond Fund pursuant to Sections 10.2 and 10.3 of the
Master Lease; (iii) all Base Rentals, and, if paid by the City, the Purchase Option Price with respect
to the Project specified in Sections 6.2 and 12.1 of the Master Lease; and (iv) all other moneys
received by the Authority under and pursuant to any of the provisions of the Master Lease which
are required or which are accompanied by directions that such moneys are to be paid into the Bond
Fund. The Authority hereby covenants and agrees that so long as any of the Series 2023 Bonds
issued hereunder are Outstanding, it will deposit in the Bond Fund for its account, any moneys
which are pledged under this Master Resolution for the payment of the principal of and interest on
the Series 2023 Bonds and which are required to be deposited into the Bond Fund.

The Authority covenants and agrees that should there be an Event of Default or an Event
of Non-appropriation under the Master Lease with the result that the right of possession of the
Project is returned to the Authority, the Authority shall fully cooperate with the Bondholders to
fully protect the rights and security of the Bondholders and shall diligently proceed in good faith
and, if requested by any Bondholder, shall use its best efforts to secure a purchaser or another
lessee of the Project so that at all times sufficient rents and other amounts will be derived from the
Project promptly to meet and pay the principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds as the
same become due and payable, as well as to cover the cost of all Additional Rentals with respect
to the Project required under the Master Lease. Nothing herein shall be construed as requiring the
Authority to operate the Project or to use any funds or revenues from any source other than the
rents and other amounts derived from the Project.

21
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



Section 6.4. Use of Moneys in Bond Fund. Except as provided herein, moneys in the
Bond Fund shall be used solely for the payment of the principal of the Series 2023 Bonds including
mandatory sinking fund payments, if any, of principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds,
and for the redemption of the Series 2023 Bonds prior to maturity, and the Bond Fund shall be
depleted for such purposes at least annually. The Authority shall maintain subaccounts within the
Bond Fund with respect to each series of Series 2023 Bonds in order to properly utilize all moneys
deposited therein for their intended purposes, it being the intent hereof that, except as otherwise
provided herein, all Series 2023 Bonds authorized hereunder will be equally secured by an equal
lien pledge of moneys deposited in the Bond Fund.

Section 6.5. Custody of Bond Fund. The Bond Fund shall be in the custody of the
Authority, and the Authority shall withdraw sufficient funds from the Bond Fund to pay the
principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds as the same become due and payable, and to
utilize the moneys in the Bond Fund as provided in Section 6.4 hereof.

Section 6.6.  Creation of Reserve Fund. There is hereby created and established with the
Authority a trust fund in the name of the Authority to be designated “Municipal Building Authority
of Tooele City, Utah Reserve Fund” which shall be expended in accordance with the provisions
of Section 6.7 hereof.

Section 6.7. Deposit to and Use of Moneys in the Reserve Fund. Beginning October 1,
2025, and thereafter on the first day of each October, the Authority will deposit the amount of
approximately $82,160, in six (6) annual installments until there is on deposit in the Reserve Fund,
the Reserve Fund Requirement for the Series 2023 Bonds in the amount of $492,960. The
Authority may maintain subaccounts within the Reserve Fund in order to properly utilize all
moneys deposited therein for their intended purposes. Any moneys held in the Reserve Fund shall
be invested and reinvested by the Authority in Investment Obligations. Moneys held in the
Reserve Fund shall be applied as follows:

(a) If within five (5) Business Days of any Principal Payment Date the moneys
held in the Bond Fund are insufficient to pay all interest and principal then becoming due,
the Authority shall transfer, on or before such date, moneys from the Reserve Fund to the
Bond Fund to the extent that the amount of money so transferred plus all moneys then held
in the Bond Fund shall be sufficient to pay all interest, if any and principal payments then
becoming due and payable on such date; and

(b) In the event that the City shall exercise its option to purchase the Project
and terminate its payment obligations under the Master Lease upon payment of the
Purchase Option Price, the Authority shall transfer all moneys held in the Reserve Fund to
the Bond Fund.

In the event moneys are drawn from the Reserve Fund to pay principal of and/or interest
on the Series 2023 Bonds such that there shall be remaining in said fund an amount less than the
Reserve Fund Requirement, the Authority shall replenish the Reserve Fund to the Reserve Fund
Requirement upon the deposit of Additional Rentals to be paid by the City pursuant to Section 6.2
of the Master Lease.

22
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



On each December 1, any moneys held in the Reserve Fund in excess of the Reserve Fund
Requirement shall be immediately transferred to the Bond Fund. To the extent so paid, such excess
shall reduce the amount of the succeeding Base Rental otherwise payable under the Master Lease.

Section 6.8.  Deposit of Series 2023 Bonds Proceeds; Disbursements. The proceeds from
the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds shall be deposited at the time of delivery in the Escrow Account
to be administered by the Escrow Agent as provided in the Escrow Agreement. All monies
deposited in the Escrow Account shall be used solely for the purpose of defraying all or a portion
of the costs of the Project including the payment of costs of issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds.
Any unexpended balance from proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds remaining in the Escrow
Account after completion of the Project shall be deposited in the Bond Fund and used to redeem
the Series 2023 Bonds pursuant to Section 4.1 with such proceeds being applied to the Series 2023
Bonds. Proceeds from the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds on deposit in the Escrow Account may
be invested as provided in the Escrow Agreement. Following the transfer of unexpended funds
from the Escrow Account, the Escrow Account will be closed.

Section 6.9. Non-presentment of Series 2023 Bond. In the event that any Series 2023
Bonds shall not be presented for payment when the principal thereof becomes due, either at
maturity, or at the date fixed for prepayment or redemption thereof, or otherwise, if funds sufficient
to pay any such Series 2023 Bond are on deposit with the Authority for the benefit of the
Bondholder or Bondholders thereof, all liability of the Authority to the Bondholder thereof for the
payment of such Series 2023 Bond shall forthwith cease, terminate, and be completely discharged,
and thereupon it shall be the duty of the Paying Agent to hold such funds, without liability for
interest thereon, for the benefit of the Bondholder of such Series 2023 Bond who shall thereafter
be restricted exclusively to such funds, for any claim of whatever nature on its part under this
Master Resolution, the Security Documents or on, or with respect to, such Series 2023 Bond.

Section 6.10. Repayment to the City from Bond Fund or Reserve Fund. Any amounts
remaining in the Bond Fund or the Reserve Fund after payment in full of the principal of and
interest on the Series 2023 Bonds and all other amounts required to be paid hereunder shall be paid
immediately to the City as an overpayment of Base Rentals.

Section 6.11. Custody of Separate Trust Fund. The Authority shall hold all Net Proceeds
from any insurance policies, performance bond, or condemnation awards and disburse such
proceeds in accordance with Article X of the Master Lease. Ifthe City directs that the Net Proceeds
be applied to redeem the Series 2023 Bonds pursuant to Section 10.3 of the Master Lease, the
Authority covenants and agrees to transfer such funds to the Bond Fund and to redeem the Series
2023 Bonds as provided in Section 4.1 herein.

23
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE VII
INVESTMENT OF MONEYS

Section 7.1.  Authority to Invest Funds. Any moneys held as part of the Bond Fund, the
Reserve Fund, or any other fund shall be invested and reinvested by the Authority in Investment
Obligations in accordance with the provisions hereof and Section 7.5 of the Master Lease. The
Reserve Fund is to be invested in Investment Obligations with maturities of less than twelve
months. The Authority shall sell and reduce to cash a sufficient amount of such investments
whenever the cash balance in the Bond Fund is insufficient to pay the principal of and interest on
the Series 2023 Bonds when due.

Section 7.2.  Method of Valuation and Frequency of Valuation. In computing the amount
in any Fund or account, Investment Obligations shall be valued at the market value of such
Obligations, exclusive of accrued interest. All funds and accounts are to be marked to market
valuation conducted on an annual basis by the Authority.

ARTICLE VIII
RIGHTS OF THE CITY

Section 8.1.  Subordination of Rights to City. This Master Resolution and the rights and
privileges hereunder of the holders of the Series 2023 Bond are specifically made subject to and
subordinate to the rights and privileges of the City set forth in the Master Lease to exercise its
option to purchase the Project in the event of, and subsequent to, the occurrence of an Event of
Default, but prior to the liquidation of the Project; provided, however, that as a condition of the
exercise of such option, the City must pay, in addition to the Purchase Option Price, any interest
payment deficiencies accruing from the date of the Event of Default or Event of Non-
appropriation. The Authority agrees that it shall execute and deliver any instrument necessary or
appropriate at any time to confirm evidence or enable the City to enjoy such rights and privileges,
including without limitation, those referred to in Section 8.2 hereof.

Section 8.2.  Granting of Rights in and to the Project. Reference is made to the provisions
of the Master Lease, including without limitation Section 11.6 of the Master Lease, whereby the
Authority and the City have reserved the right to grant rights in and to certain portions of the
Project upon compliance with the terms and conditions of the Master Lease.

Section 8.3.  Release of Equipment Forming a Part of the Project. Reference is made to
the provisions of the Master Lease, whereby the City may withdraw certain items of equipment
forming a part of the Project upon substitution of other property of comparable or greater value,
or upon deposit of sale proceeds in the Bond Fund, in conformity with the terms and conditions of
the Master Lease.

24
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



ARTICLE IX
DISCHARGE OF LIEN

If the Authority shall pay or cause to be paid, or there shall be otherwise paid or provisions
for payment made to or for the Bondholders, the principal of and interest due or to become due on
the Series 2023 Bonds at the times and in the manner stipulated therein, and if the Authority shall
not then be in default in any of the other covenants and promises in the Series 2023 Bonds and the
Security Documents and in this Master Resolution expressed as to be kept, performed, and
observed by it or on its part, then these presents and the estate and rights hereby granted shall
cease, determine, and be void, whereupon the Authority shall cancel and discharge the lien of this
Master Resolution, and release, assign, and deliver unto the City any and all the estate, right, title,
and interest in and to any and all rights or otherwise subject to the lien of this Master Resolution,
including amounts in the Bond Fund and the Reserve Fund required to be paid to the City under
Section 6.10 of this Master Resolution and all rights granted under the Security Documents, except
moneys or securities held by the Authority for the payment of the principal of and interest on the
Series 2023 Bonds.

Any Series 2023 Bonds shall be deemed to be paid within the meaning of this Article and
for all purposes of this Master Resolution when payment of the principal of and the applicable
redemption premium, if any, on such Series 2023 Bond to the due date thereof (whether such due
date be by reason of maturity or upon redemption as provided in this Master Resolution, or
otherwise), either (i) shall have been made or caused to be made in accordance with the terms
thereof, or (ii) the Authority shall have irrevocably set aside in trust exclusively for such payment,
(1) moneys sufficient to make such payment, and/or (2) noncallable Government Obligations
maturing as to principal and interest in such amount and at such times as will ensure, without
reinvestment, the availability of sufficient moneys to make such payment. At such time as a Series
2023 Bond shall be deemed to be paid hereunder, as aforesaid, it shall no longer be secured by or
entitled to the benefits of this Master Resolution or the Security Documents, except for the
purposes of any such payment from such moneys or Government Obligations.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no deposit under clause (ii) of the immediately preceding
paragraph shall be deemed a payment of such Series 2023 Bond as aforesaid until: (a) proper
notice of redemption of such Series 2023 Bond shall have been previously given in accordance
with Article IV of this Master Resolution, or in the event said Series 2023 Bond are not by their
terms subject to redemption within the next succeeding sixty (60) days, until the Authority shall
have given notice to the Bondholders of the Series 2023 Bond, in accordance with Article IV
hereof, that the deposit required by (ii) above has been made with the Authority and that said Series
2023 Bond are deemed to have been paid in accordance with this Article IX, and stating such
maturity or redemption date upon which moneys are to be available for the payment of the principal
or redemption price, if applicable, on said Series 2023 Bond and to call for redemption pursuant
to this Master Resolution any Series 2023 Bond to be redeemed prior to maturity; or (b) the
maturity of such Series 2023 Bond.

All moneys so deposited with the Authority as provided in this Article IX may at the
direction of the Authority also be invested and reinvested in Government Obligations, maturing in
the amounts and at times as hereinbefore set forth, and all income from all Government Obligations

25
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



in the hands of the Authority pursuant to this Article IX which is not required for the payment of
the Series 2023 Bonds and interest thereon with respect to which such moneys shall have been so
deposited, shall be deposited in the Bond Fund as and when realized and collected for use and
application as are other moneys deposited in that fund.

Notwithstanding any provision of any other Article of this Master Resolution which may
be contrary to the provisions of this Article, all moneys or Government Obligations set aside and
held in trust pursuant to the provisions of this Article IX for the payment of Series 2023 Bond shall
be applied to and used solely for the payment of the particular Series 2023 Bond (including interest
and premium thereof, if any) with respect to which such moneys and Government Obligations
have been so set aside in trust.

26
4855-4387-1368, V. 2



ARTICLE X
DEFAULT PROVISIONS AND REMEDIES

Section 10.1. Events of Default. If any of the following events occur, it is hereby declared
to constitute an “Event of Default” under this Master Resolution:

(a) Failure to pay when due the principal of and interest on any Series 2023
Bonds, whether at the stated maturity thereof, or upon proceedings for redemption thereof,
or upon the maturity thereof by declaration;

(b) Failure to perform or observe any other of the covenants, agreements, or
conditions on the part of the Authority in this Master Resolution or in the Series 2023
Bonds contained and failure to remedy the same after notice thereof pursuant to Section
10.13 hereof;

(©) The occurrence of an Event of Default under the terms of any of the Bond
Documents on the part of either the Authority or the City;

(d) The Authority shall for any reason be rendered incapable of fulfilling its
obligations hereunder;

| (e) The Authority (i) is adjudged insolvent by a court of competent jurisdiction,

| (ii) admits in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due, (iii) files a

| petition in bankruptcy, (iv) makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or (v) consents
to the appointment of a receiver of itself or property with respect to the Project;

® An order, judgment, or decree shall be entered by any court of competent
jurisdiction appointing, without the consent of the Authority, a receiver of the Authority or
of the property with respect to the Project, and such order, judgment, or decree shall not be
vacated or set aside or stayed within sixty (60) days from the date of such appointment;

; (g) A court of competent jurisdiction shall enter an order, judgment, or decree
| approving a petition filed against the Authority under the provisions of any bankruptcy act
| and such order, judgment, or decree shall not be vacated or set aside or stayed within sixty
(60) days from the date of entry of such order, judgment or decree;

(h) Under the provisions of any other law now or hereafter existing for the relief
or aid of debtors, any court of competent jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of
the Authority or of the property with respect to the Project or any part thereof, and such
custody or control shall not be terminated within sixty (60) days from the date of
assumption of such custody or control, or

1) Subject to the limitations contained in the Master Lease, the Authority shall
unreasonably delay or fail to carry on with reasonable dispatch, or shall discontinue
construction of any substantial part of the Project.

27
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



Section 10.2. Acceleration, Limitation on Remedies. Upon the occurrence of an Event of
Default, the Bondholders of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount
of the Series 2023 Bonds Outstanding may, by notice in writing delivered to the Authority, declare
the principal of all Series 2023 Bonds then Outstanding and the interest accrued thereon
immediately due and payable, and such principal and interest shall become and be immediately
due and payable. With respect to the Series 2023 Bonds, such amounts of principal and interest
payable thereon shall bear interest from the date of acceleration, as herein provided, until paid at
the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum, unless otherwise waived in whole or in part by the
Bondholder.

Upon any sale made either under the power of sale given in this Article X or given in the
Security Documents or under a judgment, order, or decree made in any judicial proceedings for
the foreclosure or enforcement of this Master Resolution, the Ground Lease and the Security
Documents, the principal of all Series 2023 Bonds then Outstanding, if not previously due, shall
at once become and be immediately due and payable without declaration or notice by the
Bondholders.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Master Resolution, no
deficiency judgment upon foreclosure of the lien of this Master Resolution or of the Security
Documents against the Project may be entered against the City or the Authority, and no breach of
any provision of the Master Lease, the Ground Lease, the Security Documents, or the Master
Resolution shall impose any general obligation or liability upon or a charge against the City or the
Authority or upon the general credit or taxing powers of the City. Additionally, no judgment
requiring a payment of money may be entered against the City by reason of an Event of Default
or an Event of Non-appropriation under the Master Lease.

Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the rights and privileges of the
Bondholders are subject to the right of the City to purchase the Project as set forth in the Master
Lease and the Bondholders shall make no final sale or other final disposition of any interest in the
Project pursuant to any available foreclosure remedy without notifying the City in writing of the
occurrence of an Event of Default, and allowing the City ninety (90) days from the mailing of such
notice to exercise its option to purchase the Project.

Section 10.3. Surrender of Possession of Project; Rights and Duties of Authority in
Possession. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under this Master Resolution, the
Authority, upon demand of the Bondholders, shall forthwith surrender, and it shall be lawful for
the Bondholders, by such officer or agent as they may appoint, to take possession of all or any part
of the Project together with the books, papers, and accounts of the Authority pertaining thereto,
and including the rights and the possession of the Authority with respect to the Project under the
Master Lease and the Ground Lease to make all needful repairs and improvements as the
Bondholders shall deem wise. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Bondholders may
execute a written notice of default and an election to cause the Project or any portion thereof to be
sold (subject to the reversionary rights of the City retained in the Project Site under the Ground
Lease) to satisfy the obligations of the Authority under this Master Resolution in accordance with
the provisions of the Security Documents and/or may cause a sale of personal property as provided
by law. The Bondholders may also lease or otherwise dispose of the Project in the name and for
the account of the Authority and in such manner as the Bondholders, in their sole discretion, may

28
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



elect. In connection with any such sale or leasing of the Project, the Bondholders may collect,
receive, and sequester the rental payments, revenues, earnings, income, products, and profits
therefrom, and out of the same and any moneys received from any receiver pay, or set up the proper
reserve for the payment of, all proper costs and expenses of so taking, holding, leasing, selling,
and managing the same, including reasonable compensation to the Bondholders, its agents and
counsel, and any charges of the Bondholders hereunder, and any taxes and assessments and other
charges prior to the lien of this Master Resolution and the Security Documents which the
Bondholders may deem it wise to pay, and all expenses of such repairs and improvement, and
apply the remainder of the moneys so received in accordance with the provisions of Section 10.8
hereof. Whenever all that is due upon the Series 2023 Bonds shall have been paid and all defaults
made, cured, or waived, the Bondholders shall surrender whatever possession the Bondholders
shall retain to the Authority; the same right of entry, however, to exist upon any subsequent Event
of Default.

While in possession of such property the Bondholders shall render annually to the
Authority and the City, at their addresses set forth in the registration book required by Section 5.6
hereof, a summarized statement of income and expenditures in connection therewith.

While any Series 2023 Bonds are Outstanding, the Authority shall not exercise any of the
remedies on default specified in Section 14.2 of the Master Lease without the prior written consent
of the Bondholders.

Section 10.4. Other Remedies; Rights of Bondholders. Except as otherwise limited by
the provisions of this Master Resolution, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under this
Master Resolution, the Bondholders may pursue any available remedy by suit at law or in equity
to enforce the payment of the principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds then Outstanding.

No remedy by the terms of this Master Resolution conferred upon or reserved to the
Bondholders is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but each and every such remedy
shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other remedy given to the Bondholders
hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity.

No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default or Event of
Default under this Master Resolution shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to
be a waiver of any such default or Event of Default or acquiescence therein; and such right and
power may be exercised from time to time as often as may be deemed expedient.

No waiver of any default or Event of Default hereunder by the Bondholders shall extend
to or shall affect any subsequent default or Event of Default or shall impair any rights or remedies
consequent thereon.

Section 10.5. Right of Bondholders to Direct Proceedings. The Bondholders of a majority
in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds then Outstanding shall have the right at
any time to direct the method and place of conducting all proceedings to be taken in connection
with the enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Master Resolution, or for the appointment
of a receiver or any other proceedings hereunder; provided that such direction shall not be
otherwise than in accordance with the provisions of law and of this Master Resolution.

29
4855-4387-1368, . 2



Section 10.6. Appointment of Receivers. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default
under this Master Resolution, and upon the filing of a suit or other commencement of judicial
proceedings to enforce the rights of the Bondholders under this Master Resolution, the
Bondholders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds then
Outstanding shall be entitled to the appointment of a receiver or receivers of the Project and of the
rents, revenues, earnings, income, products, and profits thereof, pending such proceedings, with
such powers as the court making such appointment shall confer.

Section 10.7. Waiver. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under this Master
Resolution, to the extent that such rights may then lawfully be waived, neither the Authority, nor
anyone claiming through or under it, shall set up, claim, or seek to take advantage of any
appraisement, valuation, stay, extension, or redemption laws now or hereafter in force, in order to
prevent or hinder the enforcement of this Master Resolution, and the Authority, for itself and all
who may claim through or under it, hereby waives, to the extent that it lawfully may do so, the
benefit of all such laws.

Section 10.8. Application of Moneys. All moneys received on behalf of the Bondholders
pursuant to any right given or action taken under the provisions of this Article shall, after payment
of the costs and expenses of the proceedings resulting in the collection of such moneys and of the
expenses, liabilities, and advances incurred or made, be deposited in the Bond Fund and all moneys
in the Bond Fund shall be applied as follows:

(@ Unless the principal of all the Series 2023 Bonds shall have become or shall
have been declared due and payable, all such moneys shall be applied:

FIRST — To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid
principal of and interest on any of the Series 2023 Bonds which shall have become
due (other than Bond matured or called for redemption for the payment of which
moneys are held pursuant to the provisions of this Master Resolution), in the order
of their due dates, from the respective dates upon which they became due (with
interest on overdue installments of interest, at the same rate as the rate of the
respective Bond or Bonds which are past due) and, if the amount available shall not
be sufficient to pay in full the Series 2023 Bonds due on any particular date, then
to the payment ratably, according to the amount of principal due on such date, to
the persons entitled thereto without any discrimination or privilege; and

SECOND — To be held for the payment to the persons entitled thereto as
the same shall become due of the principal of and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds
which may thereafter become due either at maturity or upon call for redemption
prior to maturity and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full
the Series 2023 Bonds due on any particular date, payment shall be made ratably
according to the amount of principal due on such date to the persons entitled thereto
without any discrimination or privilege.

(b)  Ifthe principal of all the Series 2023 Bonds shall have become due or shall
have been declared due and payable, all such moneys shall be applied to the payment of
the principal then due and unpaid upon the Series 2023 Bonds, without preference or

30
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



priority of principal over interest or interest over principal, or any installment of interest
over any other installment of interest of any Series 2023 Bonds over any other Series 2023
Bonds, ratably, according to the amounts due for principal and interest, to the persons
entitled thereto without any discrimination or privilege, plus, if available, with interest on
overdue installments of interest and principal at the same rate as the rate of the respective
Bond or Bonds which are past due.

(c) If the principal of and interest on all the Series 2023 Bonds shall have been
declared due and payable, and if such declarations shall thereafter have been rescinded and
annulled under the provisions of this Article X then, subject to the provisions of Section
10.8(b) of this Master Resolution in the event that the principal of and interest on all the
Series 2023 Bonds shall later become due or be declared due and payable, the moneys shall
be applied in accordance with the provisions of Section 10.8(a) this Master Resolution.

Whenever moneys are to be applied pursuant to the provisions of this Section 10.8, such
moneys shall be applied at such times, and from time to time, as any duly appointed receiver shall
determine, having due regard to the amount of such moneys available for application and the
likelihood of additional moneys becoming available for such application in the future. Setting
aside such moneys in trust for the proper purpose shall constitute proper application by such
receiver, and such receiver shall have no liability whatsoever to the Bondholders or to any other
person for any delay in applying any such moneys, so long as the receiver acts with reasonable
diligence, having due regard for the circumstances, and ultimately applies the same in accordance
with the circumstances known at the time of the application by the receiver. Whenever the
Authority or a receiver shall apply such funds, it shall fix the date (which shall be a Principal
Payment Date unless it shall deem another date more suitable) upon which such application is to
be made and upon such date interest on the amounts of principal to be paid on such date shall cease
to accrue. The Authority shall not be required to make payment on any Series 2023 Bond until
such Bond shall be presented for appropriate endorsement or for cancellation if fully paid.

Whenever the principal of and interest on all the Series 2023 Bonds has been paid under
the provisions of this Section 10.8 and all expenses and charges of the Authority have been paid
any balance remaining in the Bond Fund shall be paid to the City as provided in Section 6.10 of
this Master Resolution as overpayment of Base Rentals.

Section 10.9. Remedies Vested. All rights of action under this Master Resolution or under
any of the Series 2023 Bonds may be enforced by or on behalf of the Bondholders without the
possession of any of the Series 2023 Bonds or the production thereof in any trial or other
proceeding relating thereto and any such suit or proceeding instituted for or by the Bondholders
shall be brought for the equal and ratable benefit of the Bondholders of the Outstanding Bond.

Section 10.10. Rights and Remedies of Bondholders. No Bondholder shall have any right
to institute any suit, action, or proceeding at law or in equity for the enforcement of this Master
Resolution or for the execution of any trust hereof or for the appointment of a receiver or any other
remedy hereunder, unless such default shall have become an Event of Default under this Master
Resolution; it being understood and intended that no one or more Bondholders shall have any right
in any manner whatsoever to affect, disturb, or prejudice the lien of this Master Resolution by its,
his, her, or their action or to enforce any right hereunder except in the manner herein provided,

31
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



and that all proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner
herein provided and for the equal and ratable benefit of the Bondholders of all Series 2023 Bonds
then Outstanding. However, nothing contained in this Master Resolution shall affect or impair the
right of any Bondholder to enforce the payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest
on the Series 2023 Bonds at and after the maturity thereof, or the obligation of the Authority to
pay the Series 2023 Bonds issued hereunder to the respective Bondholders thereof at the time,
place, from the source and in the manner in the Series 2023 Bonds expressed.

Section 10.11. Termination of Proceedings. In case the Bondholders shall have proceeded
to enforce any right under this Master Resolution by the appointment of a receiver or otherwise,
and such proceedings shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or shall have
been determined adversely, then and in every such case the Authority and the Bondholders shall
be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder respectively, and all rights, remedies,
and powers of the Bondholders shall continue as if no such proceedings had been taken.

Section 10.12. Waivers of Events of Default. The Bondholders may waive any Event of
Default under this Master Resolution and its consequences and rescind any declaration of maturity
of principal; provided, however, that there shall not be waived (i) any Event of Default under this
Master Resolution in the payment of the principal of any Outstanding Bond at the date of maturity
specified therein, or (ii) any Event of Default in the payment when due of principal and interest or
all arrears of payments of principal and interest when due, as the case may be, both with interest
at the same rate as the rate of the respective Bond or Bonds which are past due, and all expenses
of the Bondholders, in connection with such Event of Default shall have been paid or provided for,
and in cases of any such waiver or rescission, or in case any proceeding taken by Bondholders on
account of any such Event of Default shall have been discontinued or abandoned or determined
adversely, then and in every such case the Authority and the Bondholders shall be restored to their
former positions and rights hereunder respectively, but no such waiver or rescission shall extend
to any subsequent or other Event of Default, or impair any right consequent thereon.

Section 10.13. Notice of Events of Default under Section 10.1(b); Opportunity of the
Authority and the City to Cure Such Events of Default. Anything herein to the contrary
notwithstanding, no default under Section 10.1(b) hereof shall constitute an Event of Default under
this Master Resolution until actual notice of such default by registered or certified mail shall be
given to the Authority and the City by the Bondholders of not less than twenty-five percent (25%)
in aggregate principal amount of all Bond Outstanding, and the Authority and the City shall have
had thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice to correct said default or cause said default to be
corrected, and shall not have corrected said default or caused said default to be corrected within
the applicable period; provided, however, that, if said default be such that it cannot be corrected
within the applicable period, it shall not constitute an Event of Default under this Master
Resolution if corrective action is instituted by the Authority and the City within the applicable
period and diligently pursued, to the satisfaction of the Bondholders until the default is corrected.

With regard to any default concerning which notice is given to the Authority and the City
under the provisions of this Section 10.13, the Authority hereby grants the City full authority for
account of the Authority to perform any covenant or obligation alleged in said notice to constitute
a default, in the name and stead of the Authority with full power to do any and all things and acts

32
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



to the same extent that the Authority could do and perform any such things and acts and with power
of substitution.

ARTICLE XI
SUPPLEMENTAL RESOLUTIONS

Section 11.1. Supplemental Resolutions Not Requiring Consent of Bondholders. The
Authority may, without consent of, or notice to, any of the Bondholders enter into a resolution or
resolutions supplemental to this Master Resolution which shall not be inconsistent with the terms
and provisions hereof for any one or more of the following purposes:

(a) To cure any ambiguity or formal defect or omission in this Master
Resolution;

(b)  To grant to or confer upon the Bondholders any additional rights, remedies,
powers, or authority that may lawfully be granted to or conferred upon the Bondholders;

() To subject to this Master Resolution additional revenues, properties, or
collateral;

(d) To modify, amend, or supplement this Master Resolution or any resolution
supplemental hereto in such matter as to permit the qualification hereof and thereof under
the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or any similar federal statute hereafter in
effect or to permit the qualification of the Series 2023 Bonds for sale under the securities
laws of any of the states of the United States of America, and, if they so determine, to add
to this Master Resolution or any resolution supplemental hereto such other terms,
conditions, and provisions as may be determined by said laws;

(e) To evidence the appointment of a separate paying agent or the succession
of a paying agent hereunder;

® To issue Refunding Bonds or Additional Bonds in accordance with this
Master Resolution and the Master Lease; provided, however, that so long as the CIB is the
owner of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Authority must obtain its prior written approval for
the issuance of Additional or Refunding Bonds; and

(g) To make any other change that does not materially adversely affect the
rights of any Bondholder.

Section 11.2. Supplemental Resolutions Requiring Consent of Bondholders. Exclusive
of supplemental resolutions covered by Section 11.1 hereof and subject to the terms and provisions
contained in this Section 11.2, and not otherwise, the Bondholders of not less than fifty-one percent
(51%) in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds then Outstanding shall have the
right, from time to time, anything contained in this Master Resolution to the contrary
notwithstanding, to consent to and approve the execution by the Authority of such other resolution
or resolutions supplemental hereto as shall be deemed necessary and desirable by the Authority
for the purpose of modifying, altering, amending, adding to, or rescinding, in any particular, any

33
4855-4387-1368, v. 2



of the terms or provisions contained in this Master Resolutions or in any supplemental resolution;
provided, however, that nothing in this Section 11.2 or in Section 11.1 hereof contained shall
permit, or be construed as permitting, (i) an extension of the maturity of the principal of any Series
2023 Bonds issued hereunder, or (ii) a reduction in the principal amount of, or redemption
premium on, any Series 2023 Bonds, or the rate of interest thereon or (iii) a privilege or priority
of any Series 2023 Bonds over any other Series 2023 Bonds, or (iv) a reduction in the aggregate
principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds required for consent to such supplemental resolutions,
or (v) the creation of any lien ranking prior to or on a parity with the lien of this Master Resolution,
the Master Lease, and the Security Documents on the Project any part thereof (except in connection
with the issuance of Refunding Bond or Additional Bond), or (vi) the deprivation with respect to
the Bondholder of any Series 2023 Bonds then Outstanding of the lien hereby created on the
Project, without the prior consent of the Bondholders of one hundred percent (100%) of the Series
2023 Bonds affected by such action.

If at any time the Authority shall desire to enter into any such supplemental resolution for
any of the purposes of this Section 11.2, it shall cause notice of the proposed adoption of such
supplemental resolution to be given by registered or certified mail to the Bondholder of each Series
2023 Bond shown by the list of Bondholders required by the terms of Section 5.6 hereof. Such
notice shall briefly set forth the nature of the proposed supplemental resolution and shall state that
copies thereof are on file at th<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>